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On behalf of the Board of Directors would like to present to shareholders the

annual results of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited the Company and its

subsidiaries collectively the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010

am taking this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Groups staff for

their contributions enabling the Group to work through difficult year

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Turnover was reported as HK$1628 million

2009 HK$1542 million for the year

ended 31 March 2010 which indicates an

increase of 6% from last financial year

Due to special provision for inventories

included in cost of sales in the reported

year gross profit was lower than its normal

level Gross profit in the reported year was

HK$116 million 2009 HK$143.5 million

representing drop by 19% However if

excluding such specialstock provision

gross profit dropped by 3% to HK$139.6

million The decline in gross profit before

special stock provision was primarily

caused by the decreased turnover and

drop in profit margin in our manufacturing segment Due to the prolonged

contraction of the American and European markets with the keen competition

from small local Chinese manufacturers the Group will discontinue certain low-

margin product lines in the manufacturing business segment Provisions for

inventories and other relevant production assets mainly tooling machineries

in respect of the discontinued product lines and goods return aggregated to

HK$37.8 million This sum of provisions in the year under review turned the

initial profitable into loss result attributable to equity holders of the Company

for HK$31.6 million 2009 HK$7.1 million profit Before making such special

provisions the operating profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 was HK$15.5

million 2009 HK$17.3 million Moreover in the comparative year ended 31

March 2009 there was sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal of property

and on financial instruments which did not repeat in the year ended 31 March

2010 By also taking this factor into account the Groups operating profitability

can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4 million year-on-year

Factory Buildings in Heyuan Daiwa Industrial Complex

19 19 19 7\

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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The earnings before interest tax depreciation and amortization

EBITDA and before special provisions are HK$32.3 million 2009

HK$35.2 million

The operating profit EBIT before special provisions is HK$15.5 million

2009 HK$17.3 million

The operating loss after special provisions is HK$22.3 million 2009

HK$17.3 million operating profit without similar provisions

In view of the need of the Groups future development the Board of Directors

has resolved not to recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders

During the year the Group declared and paid an interim dividend of HKO.3 cent

per ordinary share

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2010 the Groups net current assets amounted to HK$162.3

million 2009 HK$178.1 million and the shareholders funds were HK$360.6

million 2009 HK$384.1 million The total bank loan was HK$231 million and

the net gearing ratio which is defined as total borrowings after netting off cash

and cash equivalents to shareholders funds excluding minority interests

is 0.18 2009 0.19 The year-end cash and bank balances increased to

HK$166.6 million 2009 HK$124.6 million

At 31 March 2010 total available banking facilities of the Group were

approximately HK$349 million of which HK$58 million was unutilized Finance

lease obligations were fully repaid during the year 2009 HK$1.1 million

The Company issued corporate guarantees to banks for granting of banking

facilities to subsidiaries At 31 March 2010 total amount of corporate guarantee

committed was HK$448 million
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The Groups assets are mostly financed by shareholders funds trade payables

and bank borrowings Trade payables are repayable within one year Bank

borrowings composed of trade financing repayable within one year and term

loans repayable in installments for more than one year Total bank borrowings

as at year end date increased by 18% when compared with last reported year

The borrowings are mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars to prevent

currency risk The Groups cash and cash equivalents are mainly denominated

in Hong Kong dollars US dollars Canadian dollars and Renminbi The Group

continuously matches the payments and receipts of foreign currency arising

from routine purchases and sales Combining these methods the Group is

able to control and minimize the financial cost and exchange risk Most of the

Groups borrowings are interest bearing at floating rates which are in reference

to the Hong Kong HIBCR rate The Group has not engaged in any speculative

derivatives or structured product transactions

Inventory level increased to HK$236 million from HK$205.3 million of last

financial year to cater for more than 30% increase in sales in the distribution

business segment Average stock turnover is controlled to less than 60 stock

turnover days The trade receivables and payables increased in line with the

growth in turnover in our core business of electronic components distribution

Thanks to the continuous support of our bankers the Groups liquidity is

believed not to be affected by the provisions for inventory and tooling

machineries mentioned above

In the reported year the Group repurchased 26000 ordinary shares in the

open market The purchase prices ranged from HK$0.28 to HK$0.30 per

share

.Ass itC F1iDdIiOS
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In this reported year the labour cost ot manufacturing kept increasing due

to the increase of minimum wages labour shortage and the appreciation

ot Renminbi Rmb In the manutacturing segment the Group operated in

accordance with its normal production procedures and stocking plans for raw

materials Due to the prolonged contraction ot the American and European

markets with the keen competition from small local Chinese manufacturers

the Group will discontinue certain low-margin and low business entry barrier

product lines in the manutacturing segment Consequently the Group decided

to make provisions for inventories tooling machineries in the sum of HK$37.8

million in respect of the discontinued products and goods return from an

associated company in the reported year The bottom line ot the Group in

the reported year therefore was dragged down from profitable to loss result

Excluding these provisions and sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal

of property and on financial instruments in the previous comparative year the

Groups operating profitability can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4 million

year-on-year This was achieved by way of strict discipline in cost management

such that the Group shaved off selling and administrative expenses excluding

the HK$14.2 million provisions by HK$18.1 million or 12% in the reported year

Notwithstanding consolidation in the manufacturing business segment it was

encouraging to see that business in the electronic components distribution

segment recorded robust growth

The Group is engaged in the following major businesses namely

Electronic Components Distribution

EMS Contract Electronic Manufacturing Services

Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing and

Personal Computer Distribution
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Electronic components distribution constitutes the core business of the Group

accounting for 67% of the Groups turnover in the reported year This core

business has continued its growth momentum Turnover of this segment in the

reported year reached record high to HK$1083.2 million 200g HK$795.1

million representing growth of 36% when compared with last financial year

Gross profit was HK$90 million representing growth of 28% when compared

with last year 2009 HK$70.2 million

Business in this segment is mainly to act as authorized distributor of various

renowned brand names including the Groups own manufactured electronic

components Major customers are manufacturers in Hong Kong and PRO

Products of this segment includes diodes transistors integrated circuits

IC power modules MCU MOP CPU memory chips and display modules

etc Applications of these components are mobile phones electronic toys

power supplies radio CD players DVD players TV MP3/MP4 players

LED lamps handheld electronic devices and amplifiers This segment also

provides professional design service for MCUs tor solutions of air-conditioner

MP4 players electrical bicycles iPod iPhone dockings as well as power

management modules There is strong growth in this segment because of the

development in power supply solutions and focusing on customers ot mobile

phones manufacturer in East Asia and the domestic market of China

The Group has about 30 years of experience in this segment Other than the

solid base in Hong Kong the Group is one of the biggest distributors pioneer

to penetrate in the PRO market for more than 20 years The Group has built

up strong sales network and good logistic foundation in major PRO cities

by the joint management between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites The

performance of Shenzhen Shanghai and Beijing sales offices were outstanding

among competitors In order to explore further business opportunities the

Group had further strengthened the engineering capability in providing total

solutions to customers and will keep continue bring in new principal suppliers

The Group has maintained an array of authorized distributorships with

renowned suppliers such as Toshiba Panasonic On Semiconductor On

Bright Isocom Johanson Magnetic COS Chino-Excel Technology Corp

CET Diodes Rohm Arnold Magnetics LiteOn CET Everlight AEM and Abilis

Systems

.ii
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Beijing Shanghai and Shenzhen sales divisions kept playing an important role

The Group has also established sales office in Zhaoqing Chengdu and Xiamen

EMS Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service

The Group engaged in the production of telecommunication modules in

mobile phone base stations active antennas radar parts electronic modules

in automobiles as well as ROB assembly for industrial purpose products The

facility was equipped with high speed SMT production lines with nitrogen filled

reflow furnaces precise solder paste screen printer etc Process reliability

could be ensured by the in-house RoHS Scanning Systems and X-Ray

Inspection Machine

The reported year show rapid deterioration in business climate in North

America and Western Europe Sales orders from these major markets of

our EMS business were diminished Our EMS business was contracted to

turnover of HK$150.4 million 2009 HK$223.5 million representing decrease

of 33% The gross profit
before special stock provision decreased by 18% to

HK$18.9 million 2009 HK$23 million when compared with last year

With effective and continuous investments in engineering of developments

manufacturing process and quality assurance the Group has earned

recognition from core customers not only by continue support of purchase

orders but also by gaining transfer of business orders from competitors

The Group also started to explore the possibility of co-development of new

products with customers The Group believed that this direction of EMS

production will distinguish the Group from its competitors

Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing

The Group was cautious on the continuous escalating raw material cost and

labour cost eliminating low profit margin products and keeping the Group from

the risk of losses
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In the reported year turnover ot consumer electronics and electronic

components manufacturing in the reporting year was HK$132.8 million 2009

HK$215.2 million representing drop by 38% Gross profit before special

stock provision dropped by 72% to HK$5.7 million 2009 HK$20 million

To equip the Group in the coming years new models which were developed

with niche solutions and professional product identities such as sound bars

iPod iPhone dockings multi-interface mini-compo hi-fi as well as special

feature radios directed and maintained attention from direct customers The

development of new product lines in telecommunications such as cordless

DECT phones and two way radios led the Group into new era of products

The Group is starting to play significant role in this segment

The replacement of labour force by automatic machines also allowed this

segment be less dependent on the negative effects from labour cost and

supply

Personal Computer Distribution

Turnover of this segment was HK$262 million 2009 HK$308.3 million which

represented decrease ot 15% in the reported year Gross profit decreased by

16% to HK$25.4 million 2009 HK$30.3 million The decrease in turnover in

this segment was mainly result of the economic decline in North America and

the global price reduction of personal computer products

Business in this segment mainly comes from distribution of personal computer

products in North America Products in this segment include motherboards

display cards hard disk drives optical storage device computer cases power

supply software memory desk-top computer notebook netbook computers

and computer accessories

In order to shift part of the concentration in personal computer systems the

Canada subsidiary has already established dedicated marketing team in

promoting the notebook computers memory devices computer cases and

power supplies The subsidiary also started to market iPhone accessories

which are produced outside the Group and has already received concrete

orders from mass merchants such as Canadian Tire

Daics Associate AskAnce Lirniitek
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While there is recent financial crisis in Greece and certain Eurcpean ccuntries

the US economy is recovering from the trough ot its financial tsunami The

crisis has caused folding of many businesses in the manufacturing industry

which caused demand to be inadequately met This shows that the future is full

of opportunities and challenges

The business outlook of the Groups core business in distribution of electronic

components is positive After the efforts in developing the solution of mobile

phone and audio-visual applications in previous years the Group has gained

fruitful returns from new customers As the rising living standard in China is

creating strong demand for electronic products in farm villages including

mobile phones handheld electronic devices and automobiles the Group

is keeping its strong penetration in manufactures of these sectors In the

first quarter after the reported year end the Distribution Sector continued

to maintain its good performance At the same time the Sector is going to

eliminate non-contributive distribution line and will be replaced by the new

principal supplier Abilis Systems The Group has already started to launch

the applications to the rising demand of green illuminations in LED lamps

In the past years the Group has successfully integrated production sites into

the two sites in Dongguan and Heyuan To further concentrate management

efforts and overheads the Group has started to move its Dongguan operations

to Heyuan production site and is expecting to have sizable saving of

overheads At the same time since the number of manufacturers in the industry

was substantially reduced in the financial crisis the Group can successfully

gain better pricing both in EMS and consumer electronics products which can

cover the rise of overhead with excess margins

In the telecommunication sector the Group has already invested in the RD
of DECT phones and two-way radios for three years and has started gaining

recognition from customers The Group has also passed factory audits of new

customers of renowned international brand names in cordless DECT phone

and two way radios New orders in this sector will most probably replace the

eliminated consumer electronics with satisfactory profit margins in the coming

fiscal year

II LII III 1.11
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The advent of Windows and iPad has excited users to bring in new demand in

personal computers The subsidiary in Canada has developed new product line

of computer and iPhone accessories selling to mass merchants with hundreds

of retail stores in North America Customers provided positive feedback and

the Group expects to have further exposures and contributions adding on top

of the personal computer business

The big provision in the reported year is more or less one-off provision

and is not expected to be recurring With growth in electronic component

distribution of new business in telecommunications as well as the effect of cost

consolidation from the production site in Heyuan the coming financial year will

be year of turnaround in the overall profitability

Employees
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At 31 March 2010 the Group employed total of approximately 3800

employees 31 March 2009 3500 employees 30 September 2009 3300

employees located in Hong Kong Canada and PRC

The Groups remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices

and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of the individual

Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance

with the achievement of their sales target General staff are offered year-end

discretionary bonuses which are based on the divisional performance and

individual appraisals The Group also provides Mandatory Provident Fund or

ORSO scheme and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees Pursuant to

the terms and conditions of the share option scheme adopted by the Company

on 18 August 2005 the Group may grant share options to directors and eligible

employees Up to 31 March 2010 no share options had been granted

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and

external training to the employees In addition to sending staff to participate in

seminars and lectures the Group continues recommending that qualified staff

take part in professional courses such as the 1S09000 TS1 6949 and Six-Sigma

Quality Systems The training programs not only enhance employees career

development and professional knowledge but also contribute to upgrading the

management system of the Group

ie iigs Lrii
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is summary of the consolidated results assets and liabilities of

the Group for the last five years

W-W
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$OOO HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Turnover 1628377 1542134 1911025 1737449 1540139

Loss/profit attributable

/IJ
to shareholders 31630 7115 6891 10994 12648

Total assets 881902 745318 810902 773513 685250

Total liabilities 520902 360747 422258 402077 325833

Net assets 361000 384571 388644 371436 359417

Share capital 30394 30364 30423 27814 27218

Reserves 330252 353732 357340 342435 330953

Shareholders equity 360646 384096 387763 370249 358171

Minority interests 354 475 881 1187 1246

Total equity 361000 384571 388644 371436 359417
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TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL BUSINESS SEGMENT FOR 2010

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT FOR 2010

Mainland China 13%

Contract electronic

manufacturing services 9%

Consumer electronics and

electronic componerts

manufacturing 8%

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Electronic components distribution

Contract electronic manufacturing services

Consumer electronics and

1083193

150352

132812

262020

1628377

795098

223490

215197

308349

1542134

AU1% ttm

Personal computer

distribution 16%Electronic components

distribution 67%

II
Hong Kong 59%

-I

Other Asian countries

1%

Europe 10%

North America

17%

Turnover

2010 2009

electronic components manufacturing

Personal computer distribution

13 ci ci ci if
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The board of directors of the Company the Board is committed to maintain

good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity

transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders

value

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable

code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices the Code

as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited the Listing Rules for the year

ended 31 March 2010 save for the deviations discussed below The Board

will continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices and

standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision

making processes are regulated in proper and prudent manner

DIRECTORS SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by

Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its

own code of conduct regarding directors securities transactions the Model

Code Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company the

directors of the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with the

required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31

March 2010

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention

paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group The principal

functions of the Board are to

establish the strategic direction and development of the Group

determine the broad policies strategic plans and performance

obectives of the Group

monitor management performance

approve financial plans and annual budgets major funding proposals

key funding and investment proposals

Assocte Hcdics mt.ed
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued

oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls

risk management financial reporting and compliance

assume responsibility for corporate governance

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times year to approve annual

and interim results and to review the business operation and the internal

ftIj control system of the Group Apart from these regular meetings Board

meetings are also held to approve major or special issues

Four Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2010

Members of the Board number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows

Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan President 4/4

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Vice-president 4/4

Mr WAN Chor Fai 4/4

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly 4/4

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 4/4

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 4/4

Mr LIU Ngai Wing 4/4
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS continued
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The Company has received from each independent non-executive directors an

annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 313 of the Listing Rules

The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company the Board has

balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business

of the Company List of directors and their biographical details are set out on

pages 24 to 26

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1 the roles of the chairman and chief executive

officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual

Mr LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the

Company In the opinion of the Board the role of the president and the chief

executive officer is the same The Board considers that the present structure

provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for

efficient and effective business planning and execution Hence the Board

believes that it is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that

Mr LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the roles of the Chairman of the

Board and the president of the Company However the Company will review

the current structure as and when it becomes appropriate in the future

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code provision A.4.1 the non-executive directors should be

appointed for specific term subject to re-election and under the Code

provision A.4.2 every director including those appointed for specific term

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years

Currently the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for

specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the

annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of

the bye-laws of the Company and their appointment will be reviewed when

they are due for re-election

16
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ffo

The Remuneration committee is responsible for making recommendations to

the Board on among other things the companys policy and structure for the

remuneration of all directors and senior management of the company and is

delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the

Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the company

Members of Remuneration Committee

No of Meeting Attended

No of Meeting

Independent non-executive directors

Mr LIU Ngai Wing Chairman

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan

Executive director

Mr LAU Tak Wan

1/1

1/1

1/1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit committee was established with specifio written terms of

reterenoe

The Audit committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial

reporting process and internal control system of the Group and providing

advice and recommendations to the Board

Audit committee is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent

professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March

2010

Members of the Audit Committee number of Audit Committee meetings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows

ltflfl/

flflttiP
Number of meetings

attended/Number of

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee meetings held

Members of Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT Chairman 2/2

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 2/2

Mr LIU Ngai Wing 2/2

During the year the Audit Committee has performed the following duties

reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor and reviewed

the unaudited interim financial statements with recommendations to

the Board for approval

t2 JMf% reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Groups financial statements

ale HHciiriaa F. Feat cci
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AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

reviewed the Groups internal control system and discussed the relevant

issues including financial operational compliance controls and risk

management functions

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements

JJ Hmih
/1 1fl1 7tJk
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considered and recommended the appointment re-appointment and

approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of external

auditor

discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations and

reviewed and monitored external auditors independence and objectivity

and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with

applicable standards

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company did not establish Nomination Committee The duties and

functions of the Nomination Committee recommended in the Code are

performed by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing

his/her own terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director

being involved in assessing his own independence

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards

The Board also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the

ff

Group
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AUDITORS REMUNERATION

Fees charged

HK$000

iU0

o1JTh.$1

Total

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

2555

55 155
tflM111 Ill

fl54
5o

511 St 135

1361

The directors ot the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the

preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the relevant accounting

periods in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements In preparing

the financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2009 and

for the year ended 31 March 2010 the directors have adopted appropriate

accounting policies and applied them consistently The financial statements for

the reporting year have been prepared on going concern basis

statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report

INTERNAL CONTROLS

SSfl1555fl

55555

The Board is responsible for the Groups system of internal controls and is

committed to managing business risks and maintaining sound and effective

internal control system to sateguard the shareholders investment and the

Groups assets The effectiveness of the internal control system was also

discussed on an annual basis with the Audit Committee

55511 51155 During the year PricewaterhouseCoopers the external auditor of the Company

provided the following services to the Group and their respective fees charged

are set out as follows

Type of services

Audit services for the Group

Taxation services

2447

108

0.1 tD.I 44 20

Do D.ooolo Ho Ho LlmteD



Z-\ Ej
HI Corporate Governanoe Report

ItS
Tij3j

flJfl

fl1tflHSM% fl

IttBTfl
45fl

1tHTWt
flfl

INTERNAL CONTROLS continued

The Groups internal control system encompasses its policies processes

tasks and other aspects ot the Group that taken together

facilitate its etfective and etticient operation by allowing it to respond

appropriately to significant business operational financial compliance

and other risks with view of achieving business objectives This

includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from loss

and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed

help ensure maintenance ot proper accounting records for the provision

of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting and

help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations and

also with internal policies with respect to the conduct ot business

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance of no material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Groups

objectives
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Report of the Directors

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2010

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company Its subsidiaries are principally

engaged in the electronic components distribution contract electronic

manufacturing services consumer electronics and electronic components

manufacturing and distribution of personal computers

An analysis of the Groups turnover and contribution to operating profit by

reportable segments for the year is set out in note to the financial statements

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37

An interim dividend of HKO.3 cent per share totalling HK$911000 was declared

on January 2010 The Board of Directors resolved not to recommend

payment of final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2010

SUBSIDIARIES

1EJTh0 Particulars of the companys principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2010 are set

out in note 20 to the financial statements

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note

18 18 to the financial statements

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the company are set out in note 33 to the

33 financial statements

WARRANTS

Movements in warrants of the company are set out in note 35 to the financial

35 statements

22
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11 RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during

the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010 the reserves of the company available for distribution

amounted to HK$90311000 2009 HK$92766000 including contributed

surplus of HK$72309000 2009 HK$72309000

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of Nil 2009 HK$170000 during the

year

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Companys bye-laws

and there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda

which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

summary of the consolidated results assets and liabilities of the Group for

each of the five years ended 31 March 2010 is set out on pages 11 to 13

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2010 sales to the five largest customers of the

Group in total accounted for approximately 29% of the Groups total turnover

with the largest customer accounted for about 9% The five largest suppliers

of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 65% by value of the

Groups total purchases during the year with the largest supplier accounted for

about 49%

None of the directors their associates or any shareholder which to the

knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the companys share capital

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above

74J

927660002J

thEA72309000L
72309000t
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were

fltjfl

ifl59$JA
iM99flIM 1flj

iffHtMMS tI

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan Presidenf

Ms CHAN Vuen Mei Pinky Vfce-presidenf

Mr WAN chor Fai

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr cHOl Yuk Fan

Mr LIU Ngai Wing

Mr cHol Yuk Fan and Mr LIU Ngai Wing retire by rotation in accordance with

clause 99 of the companys bye-laws and being eligible offer themselves for

re-election

The terms of office of the directors including the independent non-executive

directors are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at

the companys annual general meeting in accordance with the companys bye-

laws

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

7\ UAfl

tfH-H 9tH
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Mr Tak Wan aged 60 is the founder and the President ot the Group Mr

Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist college now known as Hong Kong

Baptist University in Sociology and has more than 30 years management

and production experience in the electronics industry Prior to founding the

Group Mr had over years experience in running his own business in

the electronics industry He is responsible for the overall corporate planning

strategic development and marketing ot the Group

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky aged 53 is the spouse of Mr Tak Wan

Ms chan is the Vice-president of the Group Also she is the Director of

Administration and Finance responsible for administration human resources

and finance of the Group Prior to joining the Group in 1998 Ms chan has

over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the

same time running her own business for more than 10 years

24
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IRfrflWA24L3kit BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued

ktTfli Executive directors continued
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Mr WAN Ohor Fal aged 52 is the CEO Manufacturing of the Group Mr

Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic now known as The Hong

Kong Polytechnic University in Production and Industrial Engineering and is

responsible for the business development and manufacturing management

of the Group He has more than 20 years experience in manufacturing and

marketing Prior to joining the Group in 1987 he worked for an international

conglomerate and was in charge of the electronics division

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly aged 48 is the CEO Distribution of the Group

responsible for the Groups overall marketing strategy and the distribution of

electronic components Mr Mak joined the Group in 1988 He has more than

20 years experience in the sales and marketing of electronic components

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John Buttifant aged 65 is an independent non-executive Director

appointed by the Group in 1994 In July 2010 Mr Buttifant rejoined IDT

International Limited as Chief Executive Officer of the Group From October

2009 to March 2010 Mr Buttifant was director corporate finance of

Mission Hills Group MHG and prior to this appointment he was the

consultant to the Group since December 2008 Prior to joining MHG Mr

Buttifant served as principal of KLC Kennic Lui Company professional

accounting firm and managing director of KLO Transactions Limited Prior to

joining KLO Mr Buttifant was the executive director finance of MHG from

February 2008 till November 2008 From December 2004 to December 2007

Mr Buttifant was the managing director of Hsin Chong International Holdings

Limited controlling shareholder of Hsin Chong Construction Group H000
which was acquired by MHG in November 2007 and Synergis Holdings Ltd

Synergis which was acquired by HCCG in September 2008 Mr Buttifant

was also an alternate director to both public companies Mr Buttifant was

an operating partner of Baring Private Equity Asia Limited He was also the

managing director of Wo Kee Hong Holdings Limited Wo Kee Hong from

2001 to 2002 and was the Advisor to the board of directors of Wo Kee Hong

from November 2002 to April 2004 Prior to joining Wo Kee Hong he was the

managing director of IDT International Limited for over eight years and had

worked for Polly Peck Group and Sime Darby Hong Kong Limited for more than

11 years in the capacity of finance director and managing director He has over

30 years of experience in corporate and financial management Currently Mr

Buttifant is an independent non-executive director of Giordano International

Limited and an non-executive director of HOOG and Synergis all of which are

publicly listed companies in Hong Kong Mr Buttifant also serves as non-

executive director of Global-Tech Advanced Innovations Inc formerly known as

Global-Tech Appliances Inc NASDAO company and China Nepstar Chain

Drugstore Limited NYSE listed public company Mr Buttifant is fellow

member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants the Chartered Management Institute

the Hong Kong Management Association and the Hong Kong Institute of

Directors
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I244 BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued

Independent non-executive directors continued

iY

it

LIU Ngai Wing aged 59 was appointed as an Independent Non-executive

Director of the Company in September 2004 Mr Liu holds PhD Degree in

Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Master of Science degree in Global Business from the Chinese University of

Hong Kong Master of Science Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management

from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Master Degree in Business

Administration from the Open University of Hong Kong He is also an Associate

Member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and Fellow of the

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants Mr Liu was previously an

executive director of eSun Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive

director of New Smart Energy Group Limited The above-mentioned companies

are all listed in Hong Kong

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan aged 57 was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree LLB by

University of London in 1988 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws PCLL by

University of Hong Kong in 1991 Mr Choi is one of the Principals of Messrs

Ong Chung Co Solicitors Mr Choi was admitted as Solicitor of the High

Court of Hong Kong in 1993 and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England

and Wales in 1994 Before Mr Choi took up his legal career in 1993 he had

served in the Home Affairs Department for about 13 years 977-1 990
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT continued

Senior management

Mr MAN Wai chuen aged 47 is the company Secretary of the Company and

the head of Accounting Department of the Group He holds Master Degree in

business administration from the University of Sheffield He is fellow member

of both of the Association of Chartered certified Accountants and the Hong

Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries Mr Man is also an associate member

of the Hong Kong Institute of certified Public Accountants He had over 20

years company secretarial and accounting experience

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into service contract with the

company and these service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated

by either party for not less than three or six months prior written notice

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting has service contract with the company which

is not determinable by the company within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors service contracts noted above and the connected

transactions noted as below no other contracts of significance in relation to

the Groups business to which the company or any of its subsidiaries was

party and in which director of the company had material interest whether

directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

H-R
IJ
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At 31 March 2010 the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief

executives of the company in the shares underlying shares and debentures

of the company or any of its associated corporations within the meaning of

Fart XV of the SF0 which were required pursuant to Divisions and of Part

XV of the SF0 including interests and short positions which they are taken

or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SF0 to be notified to

the company and the Stock Exchange or which were required pursuant to

Section 352 of the SF0 to be entered in the register kept by the company or

which were required pursuant to the Model code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules to be notified to the

company and the Stock Exchange were as follows

Long position in the Companys shares of HK$0.10 each

Name of directors

Unlisted Warrants

Corporate iii

interests Notes

Number of issued ordinary shares/

underlying shares attached to derivatives

Ordinary shares in issue

4I Corporate i/

Notes interests Notes

Mr LAU Tak Wan 7862388

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky 7862388 4042854 147706499 23 3657141 155406494 51.13%

Mr WAN Chor Fai

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

50000

100000

50000 0.016%

100000 0.033%

Personal

interests

fl1t4

Other

interests

Total

interests Percentage

6557141 147706499 283 1142854 155406494 51.13%

28
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China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd

7862388

i86788103 China

Capital

Leading Trade Ltd TradeJlf
319Ji 60918396 Leading Trade

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION continued

Long position in the Companys shares of HK$0.10 each

continued

Notes

2900000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr Lau and Ms
Chan the spouse of Mr Lau

7862388 warrants and 86788103 shares in the Company were

beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd China

Capital The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by Mr

Lau and 40% owned by Ms Chan

60918396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading

Trade Ltd Leading Trade The issued share capital of Leading Trade is

50% owned by Mr Lau and 50% owned by Ms Chan
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Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Dominion International Limited which is 50% owned by Mr Lau and

50% owned by Ms Chan

Number of non-voting

deferred shares held

50000

Westpac Digital Limited

Vastpoint Industrial Limited

Daiwa Associate H.K Limited

455000

1500000

iftITI140000
10000

VI 43i

ItJ XV

XV 55

3525t

In addition each of Mr Lau and Ms Chan beneficially owns 140000

and 10000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec

Precision Industrial Limited

Save as disclosed above as at 31 March 2010 none of the Directors chief

executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short

positions in any shares underlying shares or debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SF0

which were required pursuant to Divisions and of Part XV of the SF0

including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to

have taken under such provisions of the SF0 to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of

the SF0 to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were

required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange

t421
Dominion International Limitedi4t

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION continued

Shares of associated corporations of the company

30
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole

or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the year

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

subsidiary of the Group Daiwa Distribution Ontario Inc had entered into

rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on June 2006 with

company jointly owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and Ms Chan Yuen Mei Pinky for

the period from June 2006 to 31 May 2011 Monthly rental paid for the office

premises is CAD15332.64

The above constituted connected transaction under the Listing Rules

The Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into

on normal commercial terms and on an arms length basis was fair and

reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company taken as whole are

concerned

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules

ftAI
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Daiwa Distribution Ontario Inc

Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered

into any connected transactions discioseable by the Company under the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited the Listing Rules during the year

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005 the Company adopted new share option scheme the

New Scheme in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which

replaced the old share option scheme the Old Scheme in force previously

The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no

share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2010
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERSAI
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As at 31 March 2010 to the best knowledge of the Directors the following

parties other than Directors or chief executives of the Company had an

interest or short position in the shares underlying shares or debentures of

the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Company under the

provision of Divisions and and Part XV of the SF0 or who was directly or

indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share

capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any

other member of the Group

Interests in the shares of the Company

Number of

Note

Interest in

underlying shares of the total

issued shares

Leading Trade Limited

China Capital Holdings Investment Limited

Mr Ng Hung Sang

Ms Ng Lai King Pamela spouse of

Mr Ng Hung Sang

South China Financial Holdings Limited

Leading Trade Limited 50%

Leading Trade Limited

60918396 63268882

163268882

China Capital Holdings Investment Limited 60%

China Capital

Holdings Investment Limited

ff 86788103 163268882163268882

II
iij336ffl

60918396

86788103 7862388

47162198

47162198

17322198

Leading Trade Limited is 50% owned by Mr LAU Tak Wan and 50% owned by

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky Accordingly Leading Trade Limited Mr Lau and

Ms Chan were deemed by SF0 to be interested in 60918396 163268882 and

163268882 shares of the Company

China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr LAU Tak Wan

and 40% owned by Ms CHAN Yuan Mei Pinky Accordingly China Capital

Holdings Investment Limited Mr Lau and Ms Chan were deemed by SF0 to be

interested in 86788103 163268882 and 163268882 shares of the Company

respectively

Save as disclosed above the Company has not been notified of any other

interest representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company

and recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under

Section 336 of the SF0 as at 31 March 2010

shares held unlisted warrants

Notes

20.04%

31.14%

15.52%

15.52%

5.70%
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the

knowledge of the Directors the Company has maintained sufficient public

float throughout the year under review

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Companys corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an

annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the

Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to Guide for

Effective Audit Committees published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants Audit Committee provides an important link between

the Board and the Companys auditor in matters coming within the scope

of the group audit It also reviews the effectiveness of internal audit internal

controls and risk evaluation The Committee comprises three independent non

executive directors namely Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT Mr CHOI uk Fan and

Mr LIU Ngai Wing Two meetings were held during the current financial year
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PURCHASE SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANYS LISTED SECURITIES

o.ioi91

During the year ended 31 March 2010 the Company purchased total of

26000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited all of these shares were cancelled Particulars of the

shares repurchased are as follows

.B

26000 7710

Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased sold and redeemed any of the Companys listed securities during

the year ended 31 March 2010

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who

retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment

wIld

Price per share

Number of shares Highest Lowest

repurchased price paid price paid

HK$

26000 0.300 0.280

Total cost

including

expenses

HK$

7710

Trading Month/Year

April 2009

iiitI

HK$

On behalf of the Board

LAU Tak Wan

President

Hong Kong 28 July 2010
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PricewaterhouseCoopers

22nd Floor Princes Building

Central Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED

incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate

Holdings Limited the Company and its subsidiaries together the Group
set out on pages 37 to 134 which comprise the consolidated and company

balance sheets as at 31 March 2010 and the consolidated income statement

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income the consolidated

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows

for the year then ended and summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory notes

Directors responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true

and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance This responsibility includes designing

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and

the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement whether due to fraud or error selecting and applying appropriate

accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in

the circumstances

Auditors responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you as

body in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda

and for no other purpose We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Those

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial

statements are free from material misstatement
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selected

depend on the auditors judgement including the assessment of the risks

of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud

or error In making those risk assessments the auditor considers internal

control relevant to the entitys preparation and true and fair presentation of the

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate

in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entitys internal control An audit also includes evaluating

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates made by the directors as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide basis for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give true and fair view of

the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and

of the Groups loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Pub/ic Accountants

Hong Kong 28 July 2010
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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Note

10

2010

HK$OOO

1628377

1512405

115972

678

3575

21421

121136

22332

3619

25951

5410

31361

31630
269

31361

2009

HK$OOO

1542134

1398671

143463

829

19436

26771

119667

17290

7826

9464

2735

6729

7115

386

6729

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains net

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Operating Ioss/profit

Finance costs net

Loss/profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss/prof it for the year

Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interests

Loss/earnings per share for Ioss/profit

attributable to equity holders of the

Company during the year

Basic

Diluted

11

14

150

16 HK10.42 cents fiIi HK2.34 cents

16 HK1O.42 cents 4iIi HK2.34 cents

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company are set out in

Note 15
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$ 000

$j /iJl Loss/profit for the year 31361 6729

Other comprehensive income

currency translation differences 10350 8749

Fair value gain/loss on available-for-sale financial

t/ assets net of tax 137 151

Other comprehensive income/loss for the year

net of tax 10487 8900

Total comprehensive loss for the year 20874 2171

Total comprehensive loss/income attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 21143 1765

Minority interests 269 406

20874 2171

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Asat3l March2010

W-
2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Non-current assets

Goodwill 17 28121 22704

Property plant and equipment 18 186385 198784
Leasehold land and land use rights 19 20776 21312
Interest in

jointly controlled entity 21

Interest in an associated company 22

Deferred income tax assets 32 927 172

Available-for-sale financial assets 23 305 168

Other assets 710 710

237224 243851

Current assets

Inventories 24 235927 205304
Trade and notes receivables 25 208270 139632
Amount due from an associated company 40 4382 14855
Prepayments deposits and

other receivables 26 29472 16885
Derivative financial instruments 31 235

Cash and cash equivalents 27 166627 124556

644678 501467

Total assets 881902 745318

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity

holders of the Company
Share capital 33 30394 30364
Reserves 36 330252 353732

360646 384096
Minority interests 354 475

Total equity 361000 384571

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 28 36680 34053
Deferred income tax liabilities 32 1877 3347

38557 37400

5itb1 Current liabilities

Borrowings 28 194271 161788
Trade payables 29 258709 138826
Accruals and other payables 30 27769 20083
Current income tax liabilities 1596 2616
Derivative financial instruments 31 34

482345 323347

1j Total liabilities 520902 360747

Total equity and liabilities 881902 745318

Net current assets 162333 178120

Total assets less current liabilities 399557 421971

LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky

President Vice-president

44 J134 J4 The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet

At at 31 March 2010

2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$oOO

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 20 44715 44723

Amounts due from subsidiaries 40 291759 294442

336474 339165

Current assets

Other receivables 26 109 114

Tax recoverable 30 24

Cash and cash equivalents 27 962 599

1101 737

Total assets 337575 339902

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity

holders of the Company

Share capital 33 30394 30364

Reserves 36 306756 309110

Total equity 337150 339474

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 30 425 428

Total equity and liabilities 337575 339902

Net current assets 676 309

Total assets less current liabilities 337150 339474

LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky

President Vice-president

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009

21
Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 37a 41597 68235

Interest paid 4058 7077

Interest received 82 224

Hong Kong profits tax paid 3114 574

Mainland China corporate income tax paid 3678 1943

Canadian income tax paid 1863 764

Net cash generated from operating activities 28966 58101

Cash flows from Investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment 21047 28623

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights 37b 118 18144

Net cash used in investing activities 20929 10479

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 130

Purchase of own shares 230

New bank borrowings 595432 904869

Repayment of bank borrowings 559244 926545

Payment of capital element of finance lease

obligations 1078 1396

Dividend paid to minority shareholder of

subsidiary 390

49 Dividends paid 2429 1672

Net cash generated from/used in financing

activities 32413 24974

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 40450 22648

Cash and cash equivalents at April

124556 103388

Effect on foreign exchange 1621 1480

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

166627 124556

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

yr
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$OOO

Ni33 fl/Æ36

Note 33 Note 36

At April 2009 30364 353732 384096 475 384571

Loss/profit for the year 31630 31630 269 31361

Other comprehensive

income

Currency translation

differences 10350 10350 10350

Fair value gains on available

for-sale financial assets

137 137 137

Total other comprehensive

income 10487 10487 10487

Total comprehensive loss
income 21143 21143 269 20874

Transactions with owners

Issue of new shares 33 97 130 130

Purchase of own shares

Dividends 2429 2429 390 2819

Total transactions with

owners 30 2337 2307 390 2697

E-J- At 31 March 2010 30394 330252 360646 354 361000

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements

11I 42

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share 1tf Minority Total

capital Reserves Total interests equity

fyr
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

It33 flh36

Note 33 Note 36

At April 2008 30423 357340 387763 881 388644

Prof it/loss for the year 7115 7115 386 6729

Other comprehensive

income

Currency translation

differences 8729 8729 20 8749

Fair value losses on

available-for-sale financial

assets 151 151 151

Total other comprehensive

loss 8880 8880 20 8900

Total comprehensive loss 1765 1765 406 2171

Transactions with owners

Purchase of own shares 59 171 230 230

Dividends 1672 1672 1672

Total transactions with

owners 59 1843 1902 1902

-J- At 31 March 2009 30364 353732 384096 475 384571

The notes on pages 44 to 134 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ii
tt Canon Court 22 Victoria

Street Hamilton HM 12 Bermudaii7LEft$
SI N4 ii

9i

.AH thIi

4t
ftI

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited the Company is limited liability

company incorporated in Bermuda on February 1994 as an exempted

company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda The address of its

registered office is Canons Court 22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main

Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April

1994

The Company and its subsidiaries together the Group are principally

engaged in the design development manufacturing and distribution

of electronic components contract electronic manufacturing services

and consumer electronics and the distribution of personal computer

products The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong Mainland China

and Canada

These financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong

dollar HK$000 unless otherwise stated These financial statements

have been approved for issue by the Companys Board of Directors on

28 July 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below These policies have

been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise

stated

Basis of preparation

14J

The consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate

Holdings Limited have been prepared in accordance with Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards HKFRS issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants HKICPA
They are prepared under the historical cost convention except

that certain financial assets and financial liabilities including

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value as

appropriate

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the

process of applying the Groups accounting policies The

areas involving higher degree of judgement or complexity or

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note

31 March 2010
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Notes to the Financa Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

Effect of adopting new standards amendments to standards

and interpretations

The following new standard and amendments to standards are

mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after April

2009 The adoption of these new standard and amendments to

standards does not have any significant impact to the results

and financial position of the Group

HKAS Revised Presentation of Financial

Statements The revised standard requires non-

owner changes in equity to be presented separately

from owner changes in equity As result the Group

presents all owner changes in equity in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity whereas all non-owner

changes in equity are presented in performance

statement Entities can choose whether to present one

performance statement the statement of comprehensive

income or two statements the income statement and

statement of comprehensive income The Group has

elected to present two statements an income statement

and statement of comprehensive income The

consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the revised disclosure requirements Since the

change in accounting policy only impacts presentation

aspects there is no impact on earnings per share

Amendment to HKFRS Financial Instruments

Disclosures The amendment requires enhanced

disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity

risk In particular the amendment requires disclosure

of fair value measurements by level of fair value

measurement hierarchy As the change in accounting

policy only results in additional disclosures there is no

impact on earnings per share

31 March 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

HKFRS Operating Segments HKFRS replaces

HKAS 14 Segment Reporting The new standard

requires management approach under which

segment information is presented on the same basis as

that used for internal reporting purposes In addition

the segments are reported in manner that is more

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the

chief operating decision-maker

This has resulted in an increase in number of reportable

segments presented Electronic Components

Distribution Contract Electronic Manufacturing

Services Consumer Electronics and Electronic

Components Manufacturing and Personal Computer

Distribution

As the Groups goodwill is allocated to the Personal

Computer Distribution segment the adoption of the

new standard does not require reallocation of goodwill

Accordingly the adoption of the new standard only

results in additional disclosures and does not have any

impact on the balance sheets Comparative information

has been reclassified to conform to the current years

presentation

31 March 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

The following amendments to standards and interpretations are

also mandatory tor the financial periods beginning on or after

April 2009

$B1 fl
2O08Mi

tUW5itfi

lash
u-A

HKFRSs Amendments

HKFRS and HKAS 27

Amendments

HKFRS Amendment

HKAS 23 Revised

Improvements to HKFRSs

20081

cost of an Investment in

Subsidiary Jointly Controlled

Entity or Associate

Share-based Payment

Vesting Conditions and

Cancellations

Borrowing Costs

tflt$ 32

U9J 39

15

tt18

Injlf

HKAS 32 and HKAS

Amendments

HKOFRIC-lnt and HKAS

39 Amendments

HKIFRIC-lnt 13

HKIFRIC-lnt 15

HKIFRIC-lnt 16

HKIFRIC-Int 18

Puttable Financial Instruments

and Obligations Arising on

Liquidation

Reassessment of Embedded

Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the

Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of Net Investment in

Foreign Operation

Transfers of Assets from

Customers2

fl4frfli2J
fts9l

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2009

except the amendment to HKFRS Non-currenf Assets Held

for sale and Discontinued Operations which is effective for

annual period beginning January 2010

Effective for transfer of assets received on or after July 2009

The adoption of these amendments to standards and

interpretations did not result in significant impact on the

results and financial position of the Group

31 March 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2010

tL SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Basis of preparation continued

The following standard amendments to standards and

interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the

year and have not been early adopted

IJ

32EtU391Ek

UJ
_I

2009

2O1O2

ilI42

HKFRSs Amendments

HKFRSs Amendments

HKAS 24 Revised

HKAS 27 Revised

HKAS 32 Amendment
HKAS 39 Amendment
HKFRS Revised

HKFRS Amendment

HKFRS Amendment

HKFRS Revised

HKFRS

HKIFRIC-lnt 14

Amendment

HKIFRIC-lnt 17

HKIFRIC-lnt 19

Improvements to HKFRSs

20091

Improvements to HKFRSs

20102

Related Party Disclosures2

Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements1

Classification of Rights Issues2

Eligible Hedged Items2

First-time Adoption of HKFRS1

Additional Exemptions for First-

time Adopters1

Group Cash-settled Share-

based Payment Transactions1

Business Combinations1

Financial Instruments3

Prepayments of Minimum

Funding Requirment2

Distributions of Non-cash

Assets to Owners1

Extinguishing Financial

Liabilities with Equity

Instruments1

l2o1o4Th t1lf

201141
20134

lJ 1271

20104
lUll

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2010

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2011

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2013

The effect that the adoption of HKFRS Revised and HKAS

27 Revised will have on the results and financial position of

the Group will depend on the incidence and timing of business

combinations occurring on or after April 2010 The directors

anticipate that the adoption of other standards amendments

to standards and interpretations will not result in significant

impact on the results and financial position of the Group

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up

to 31 March

l3A 48
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Nt Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2010
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities including special purpose

entities over which the Group has the power to

govern the financial and operating policies generally

accompanying shareholding of more than one

half of the voting rights The existence and effect of

potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or

convertible are considered when assessing whether

the Group controls another entity Subsidiaries are

fully
consolidated from the date on which control is

transferred to the Group They are de-consolidated from

the date that control ceases

The purchase method of accounting is used to account

for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The

cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the

assets given equity instruments issued and liabilities

incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs

directly attributable to the acquisition Identifiable assets

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed

in business combination are measured initially at their

fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of the

extent of any minority interest The excess of the cost of

acquisition over the fair value of the Groups share of the

identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of

the net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference

is recognised directly in the consolidated income

statement

Inter-company transactions balances and unrealised

gains on transactions between group companies are

eliminated Unrealised losses are also eliminated

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group

flfl
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IL SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES continued

Consolidation continued

ii Im3

11

iii

Ij
2O%-5O%

II jtj 1H

si

tiJ

In the Companys balance sheet the investments

in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated

impairment losses if any The results of subsidiaries are

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable

The Group applies policy of treating transactions with

minority interests as transactions with parties external

to the Group Disposals to minority interests result in

gains and losses for the Group and are recorded in the

consolidated income statement Purchases from minority

interests result in goodwill being the difference between

any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired

of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary

Associated companies are all entities over which the

Group has significant influence but not control generally

accompanying shareholding of between 20% and

50% of the voting rights Investment in an associated

company is accounted for using the equity method

of accounting and is initially recognised at cost The

Groups investment in an associated company includes

goodwill identified on acquisition net of any impairment

loss

The Groups share of its associated companys post-

acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the

consolidated income statement and its share of post-

acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in

reserves The cumulative post-acquisition movements

are adjusted against the carrying amount of the

investment When the Groups share of losses in an

associated company equals or exceeds its interest

in the associated company including any long-term

interest that in substance form part of the Groups

net investment in the associated company the Group

does not recognise further losses unless it has

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the

associated company

ifUiI

31 March 2010

Subsidiaries continued

ii Transactions with minority interests

iii Associated companies
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group

and its associated company are eliminated to the extent

of the Groups interests in the associated company

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

transaction provides evidence of an impairment ot the

asset transferred Accounting policies of the associated

company have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

jointly
controlled entity is an entity established under

contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other

parties undertake an economic activity which is subject

to joint control and none of the participating parties

has unilateral control over the economic activity

In the consolidated financial statements investment

in jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the

equity method of accounting and is initially recognised

at cost The Groups share of post-acquisition profits

or losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised

in the consolidated income statement and its

share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is

recognised in reserves The cumulative post-acquisition

movements are adjusted against the carrying amount

of investment When the Groups share of losses in the

jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest

in the jointly controlled entity including any long-term

interest that in substance form part of the Groups

net investment in the jointly controlled entity the Group

does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred

obligation or made payments on behalf of the jointly

controlled entity

iii flflUi iii Associated companies continued

iv WfltN iv Jointly controlled entity
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31 March 2010
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Consolidation continued

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group

and its jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the

extent of the Groups interest in the jointly controlled

entity Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the

transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the

assets transferred Accounting policies of the jointly

controlled entity has been changed where necessary

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group

Operating segments are reported in manner consistent with

the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-

maker The chief operating decision-maker who is responsible

for allocating resources and assessing performance of the

operating segments has been identified as the executive

directors that make strategic decisions

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of

the Groups entities are measured using the currency of

the primary economic environment in which the entity

operates the functional currencyj The consolidated

financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar

HK$ which is the companys functional and the

Groups presentation currency

ii Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the

functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing

at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items

are re-measured Foreign exchange gains and losses

resulting from the settlement of such transactions and

from the translation at year-end exchange rates of

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies are recognised in the income statement

1itU

iv ti$fN65 iv Jointly controlled entity continued

flBItI Segment reporting
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Foreign currency translation continued

iii Group companies

The results and financial position ot all the group entities

none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary

economy that have functional currency ditferent

from the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows

assets and liabilities tor each balance sheet

presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that balance sheet

income and expenses for each income statement

are translated at average exchange rates unless

this average is not reasonable approximation

of the cumulative etfect of the rates prevailing

on the transaction dates in which case income

and expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions and

hi all resulting exchange differences are recognised

as separate component ot equity

On consolidation exchange differences arising from the

translation of the net investment in toreign operations

and of borrowings and other currency instruments

designated as hedges of such investments are taken

to shareholders equity When foreign operation is

partially disposed ot or sold exchange ditferences

that were recorded in equity are recognised in the

consolidated income statement as part of the gain or

loss on sale

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the

acquisition of foreign entity are treated as assets

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate

lh fl
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES continued

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses

if any cost mainly represents consideration paid for the rights

to use the land on which various plants and buildings are

situated for period ranging from 38 to 69 years from the date

the respective right was granted Amortisation of leasehold land

and land use rights is calculated on straight-line basis over the

period of leases

Property plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment other than construction-

in-progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses Historical

cost includes purchase price of the asset costs transferred

from construction in progress and any directly attributable costs

of bringing the asset to the working condition and location for

its intended use

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or

recognised as separate asset as appropriate only when it is

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the

income statement during the period in which they are incurred

Depreciation of property plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate

cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives as follows

iian
1Ii HULa

tLoI31

flL 2%

gM510%33%
fl1E15%33%

15% a50%

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements furniture

fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Moulds and tooling

straight-line 2%

reducing balance 15%

reducing balance 10% to 33%

reducing balance 15% to 33%

reducing balance 15% to 50%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on the same

basis as described above

flfl
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Property plant and equipment continued

1LIjp

lfJM

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed and

adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date An assets

carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable

amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount Note 2h

Gains and losses on disposals of property plant and equipment

are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying

amount and are recognised in the income statement

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under

construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment

losses if any Cost includes the costs of construction interest

charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets

during the period of construction and other direct costs

attributable to the construction All other borrowing costs are

expensed No provision for depreciation is made on construction

in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed

and ready for the intended use When the assets concerned are

brought into use the costs are transferred to property plant

and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy

as stated above

Goodwill

Ij

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition

over the fair value of the Groups share of the net identifiable

assets of the acquired subsidiaries at the date of acquisition

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost

less accumulated impairment losses if any Impairment losses

on goodwill are not reversed Gains and losses on the disposal

of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to

the entity sold

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose

of impairment testing The allocation is made to those cash-

generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are

expected to benefit from the business combination in which the

goodwill arose identified according to operating segment

t/I
4M

31 March 2010
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries an associated

company and jointly controlled entity and non-financial

assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available

for use are not subject to amortisation/depreciation and are

at least tested annually for impairment Assets are reviewed

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An

impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the

assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The

recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less

costs to sell and value in use For the purposes of assessing

impairment assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which

there are separately identifiable cash flows cash-generating

units Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment

at each reporting date

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses the carrying

amount of the asset cash generating unit is increased to the

revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying

amount that would have been determined had no impairment

loss been recognised for the asset cash-generating unit in

prior years reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in the income statement

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries associated

company and jointly controlled entity is required upon receiving

dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the

total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries associated

company or jointly controlled entity in the period the dividend

is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the

separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount

in the consolidated financial statements of the investees net

assets including goodwill
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Financial Assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following

categories at fair value through profit or loss loans and

receivables and available-for-sale The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired

Management determines the classification of its financial assets

at initial recognition

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are

financial assets held for trading financial asset is

classified in this category if acquired principally for

the purpose of selling in the short term Derivatives

are also categorised as held for trading unless they

are designated as hedges Assets in this category are

classified as current assets

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determined payments that are not quoted

in an active market They are included in current assets

except for maturities greater than 12 months after the

end of the reporting period These are classified as

non-current assets The Groups loans and receivables

include trade and notes receivables amount due from

an associated company other receivables and cash and

cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives

that are either designated in this category or not

classified in any of the other categories They are

included in non-current assets unless management

intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months at

the end of the reporting period

Loans and receivables

Available-for-sale financial assets
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Financial Assets continued

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised

on the trade-date the date on which the Group commits to

purchase or sell the asset Investments are initially recognised

at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not

carried at fair value through profit or loss Financial assets

carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised

at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income

statement Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to

receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have

been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially

all risks and rewards of ownership Available-for-sale financial

assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

are subsequently carried at fair value Loans and receivables

are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective

interest method

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category are

presented in the income statement within other gains net in

the period in which they arise Dividend income from financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the

income statement as part of other income when the Groups

right to receive payments is established

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated

in foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are

analysed between translation differences resulting from changes

in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the

carrying amount of the security The translation differences on

monetary securities are recognised in the income statement

translation differences on non-monetary securities are

recognised in other comprehensive income Changes in the

fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified

as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive

income

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or

impaired the accumulated fair value adjustment recognised in

equity are included in the income statement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Financial Assets continued

IjjaIj
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the

effective interest method is recognised in the income statement

as part of other income Dividends on available-for-sale equity

instruments are recognised in the income statement as part

of other income when the Groups right to receive payments is

established

Derivative financial instruments

IATJ Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date

derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently

remeasured at their fair values The method of recognising the

resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative

is designated and qualified as hedging instrument and if

so the nature of the item being hedged Since the derivative

financial instruments entered into by the Group do not

qualify for hedge accounting changes in the fair value of any

derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income

statement

Impairment of financial assets

jL $4j il

aj

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period

whether there is objective evidence that financial asset or

group of financial assets is impaired financial asset or

group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses

are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment

as result of one or more events that occurred after the initial

recognition of the asset loss event and that loss event or

events has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the

financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably

estimated

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of

impairment exists The amount of the loss is measured as the

difference between the assets carrying amount and the present

value of estimated future cash flows excluding future credit

losses that have not been incurred discounted at the financial

assets original effective interest rate The assets carrying

amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in

the income statement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Impairment of financial assets continued

If in subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an

event occurring after the impairment was recognised such as

an improvement in the debtors credit rating the reversal of

the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the

income statement

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security

below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired If

any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets

the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the

acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment

loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or

loss is removed from equity and recognised in the separate

consolidated income statement Impairment losses recognised

in the separate consolidated income statement on equity

instruments are not reversed through the separate consolidated

income statement

Inventories

ij
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value Cost is determined by using the weighted average

method The cost of finished goods and work in progress

comprises raw materials direct labour other direct costs and

related production overheads based on normal operating

capacity It excludes borrowing costs Net realisable value is

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business

less applicable variable selling expenses

31 March 2010
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method less provision for impairment

provision tor impairment of trade and other receivables is

established when there is objective evidence that the Group

will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the

original terms of receivables The amount of the provision is

the difference between the assets carrying amount and the

present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the

original effective interest rate The carrying amount of the assets

is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the

amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income

statement within administrative expenses When receivable

is uncollectible it is written off against the allowance account

for receivables Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to the income statement

Cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand deposits held

at call with banks and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are

shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance

sheet

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

are classified according to the substance of the contractual

arrangements entered into and the definitions of financial

liability and an equity instrument Financial liabilities including

trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value

and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method An equity instrument is any contract

that does not meet the definition of financial liability and

evidences residual interest in the assets of the Group after

deducting all of its liabilities

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs net

of tax directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options

are shown in equity as deduction from the proceeds

Where any group company purchases the companys equity

share capital the consideration paid including any directly

attributable incremental costs is transferred from retained

profits to capital redemption reserve

31 March 2010
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Borrowings
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Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of

transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently stated

at amortised cost any difference between the proceeds net of

transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the

income statement over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group

has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for

at least 12 months after the balance sheet date

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying

asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required

to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use All other

borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the

period in which they are incurred

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred

tax Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the

extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity In this case the tax is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the

tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet

date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries

associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and

generate taxable income Management periodically evaluates

positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in

which applicable tax rogulation is subject to interpretation

It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities

Ifltflfli
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Current and deferred income tax continued

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method on

temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes However the deferred income tax is not accounted

for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in

transaction other than business combination that at the time

of the transaction affects neither accounting non-taxable profit

or loss Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and

laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related

deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax

liability is settled

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent

that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available

against which the temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences

arising on investments in subsidiaries associated company and

jointly controlled entity except where the timing of the reversal

of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there

is legally enforceable rights to offset current tax assets against

current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets

and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities

where there is an intention to settle the balance on net basis
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICI ES continued
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The Group participates in various defined contribution

retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant

employees These plans are generally funded through

payments to schemes established by government or

trustee-administered funds defined contribution

plan is pension plan under which the Group pays

contributions on mandatory contractual or voluntary

basis into separate entity The Group has no legal or

constructive obligations to pay further contributions

if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all

employees the benefit relating to employee service in the

current and prior periods

All contributions to pension plans are fully and

immediately vested and the Group had no unvested

benefits available to reduce its future contributions

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised

as liability when the Group has present legal or

constructive obligation as result of services rendered

by employees and reliable estimate of the obligation

can be made Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to

be settled within twelve months and are measured at the

amounts expected to be paid when they are settled

iii Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised

when they accrue to employees provision is made

for the estimated liability for annual leave as result of

services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet

date

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave

It
lil

i1i

31 March 2010

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

ii EtL1 ii Bonus plan
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Leases as the lessee

Leases of property plant and equipment that

substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and

rewards of ownership of assets are classified as finance

leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception

of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased

assets and the present value of the minimum lease

payments Each lease payment is allocated between

the liability and finance charges so as to achieve

constant rate on the finance balance outstanding The

corresponding rental obligations net of finance charges

are included in current and non-current liabilities where

appropriate The interest element of the finance cost is

charged to the income statement over the lease period

so as to produce constant periodic rate of interest on

the remaining balance of the liability for each period

Leases in which significant portion of the risks and

rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases Payments made under

operating leases net of any incentives received from

the lessor are charged to the income statement on

straight-line basis over the lease periods

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary

course of the Groups activities Revenue is shown net of value-

added tax returns rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue

can be reliably measured it is probable that future economic

benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been

met for each of the Groups activities as described below The

Group bases its estimates on historical results taking into

consideration the type of customer the type of transaction and

the specifics of each arrangement

31 March 2010
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Finance leases

ii SIfi$7 ii Operating leases

Revenue and income recognition
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES continued

Revenue and income recognition continued

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when

group entity has delivered products to the customer the

customer has accepted the products and collectivity of

the related receivables is reasonably assured

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on

straight-line basis over the lease periods

Dividend distribution to the companys shareholders is

recognised as liability in the Groups financial statements

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the

companys shareholders or directors where appropriate

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

LIU1i
IIitiA

Mft

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Groups activities expose it to variety of financial risks

foreign exchange risk price risk credit risk liquidity risk and

cash flow and fair value interest-rate risks The Groups overall

risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability

of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse

effects on the Groups financial performance

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group

The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain

risk exposures is governed by the Groups policies approved

by the Board of Directors of the Company The Group would

occasionally enter into certain forward foreign exchange

contracts to manage its exchange risks The Group does not

use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes

31 March 2010

Sales of goods
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ii Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

method

iii Rental income

Dividend distribution
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Foreign exchange risk

61
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The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong the Mainland

china and Canada with most of the transactions settled

in United States dollar US$ HK$ Chinese Renminbi

RMB and Canadian dollar CAD Foreign exchange

risk arises when future commercial transactions or

recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in

currency that is not the entitys functional currency The

Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various

currency exposures primarily with respect to US$ CAD

and RMB Since HK$ is pegged to US$ management

are of the opinion that the exchange rate risk exposure

arising from US$ is insignificant

Management has policy to require group companies

to manage their foreign exchange risk against their

functional currencies It mainly includes managing the

exposures arise from sales and purchases made by the

relevant group companies in currencies other than their

own functional currencies The Group also manages

its foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews

of the Groups net foreign exchange exposures and

would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to

manage its foreign exchange risks where appropriate

As at 31 March 2010 the Group did not have any

outstanding foreign exchange contracts

As at 31 March 2010 the amount due from an

associated company certain of the Groups receivables

cash and bank balances and trade payables were also

denominated in foreign currencies details of which have

been disclosed in the respective notes to the financial

statements

At 31 March 2010 if HK$ had weakened/strengthened

by 5% against RMB with all other variables held

constant post-tax loss for the year 2009 post-tax

profit would have been approximately HK$160000

lower/higher 2009 HK$161000 lower/higher mainly as

result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation

of RMB-denominated financial assets and liabilities
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

At 31 March 2010 if CAD had weakened/strengthened

by 5% against USD with all other variables held

constant post-tax loss for the year 2009 post-tax

profit would have been approximately HK$524000

higher/lower 2009 HK$538000 lower/higher

mainly as result of foreign exchange losses/gains on

translation of CAD-denominated financial assets and

liabilities

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk in

respect of investments held by the Group which are

classified as available-for-sale As the available-for-sale

financial assets are relatively insignificant to the Group

management considers that any reasonable changes

in the fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets

would not have significant financial impact to the

financial statements Accordingly no sensitivity analysis

is presented thereon

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit

risk The carrying amounts of cash at bank derivatives

financial instruments trade and notes receivables

deposits and other receivables and amount due from

an associated company included in the consolidated

balance sheet represent the Groups maximum exposure

to credit risk in relation to its financial assets

Substantially all of the Groups cash at bank are

deposited in major financial institutions located in

Hong Kong the Mainland China and Canada which

management believes are of high credit quality

Management does not expect any losses arising from

non-performance by these counterparties

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale

of products are made to customers with an appropriate

credit history and the Group performs periodic credit

evaluations of its customers Normally the Group does

not require collaterals from trade debtors

lAt Foreign exchange risk continued

Price risk

iRU Credit risk
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Credit risk continued

As at 31 March 2009 and 2010 included in other

receivables of the Group was loan due from an

independent third party company of HK$3868000

details of which have been disclosed in note 26 The

amount was originally scheduled to be repayable by

23 September 2008 whereby it was mutually agreed

between the Group and the third party to extend the

relevant terms of the agreement as detailed in note

26 to 30 November 2009 and the amount has become

repayable on demand thereafter The directors have

assessed the financial strength of the third party and are

of the opinion that credit risk for non-performance by

this third party is relatively low such that the receivable

could either be recovered through repayment or through

acquisition of the relevant equity interest in the company

The amount due from an associated company is mainly

arisen from trading transactions with the associated

company details of which are disclosed in note 40 As

at 31 March 2010 the amount due from the associated

company of HK$4382000 was overdue but not

considered to be impaired as these receivables are

secured by the assets of the associated company and

continuous settlement have been received The directors

are of the opinion that as the Group has significant

influence over the financial and operating decision

of the associated company the risk of default from

the associated company is relatively low and do not

anticipate any losses arising from non-performance by

the counterparty

Management makes periodic collective assessment as

well as individual assessment on the recoverability of

trade and other receivables including amount due from

an associated company based on historical payment

records the length of the overdue period the financial

strength of the trade and other debtors and whether

there are any disputes with the relevant debtors The

Groups historical experience in collection of trade and

other receivables falls within the recorded allowances

and directors are of the opinion that adequate provision

for uncollectible receivables has been made in these

financial statements
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining

sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability

of funding through an adequate amount of committed

credit facilities

The Groups primary cash requirements have been

for additions of and upgrades on property plant and

equipment settlement of borrowings payment for

trade and other payables and payment for operating

expenses The Group mainly finances its working

capital requirements through combination of internal

resources and bank borrowings as necessary

The Groups policy is to regularly monitor current and

expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains

sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate

amount of committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and long term

The table below analyses the Groups financial liabilities

and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant

maturity groupings based on the remaining period at

the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on

which the Group can be required to pay

jJ
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Between

and years

HK$000

31 March 2010

Between

and years

HK$000
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Group

At 31 March 2010

Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

At 31 March 2009

Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Derivative financial instruments

196638 19757

258709

20189

165353 35309

138826

18102

As at 31 March 2010 and 2009 all the Companys

financial liabilities were due for settlement contractually

within 12 months

F1

i1t27
128
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Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Groups income and operating cash flows are

substantially independent of changes in market interest

rates The Group has no significant interest-bearing

assets except for the cash at bank details of which are

disclosed in note 27 The Groups exposure to changes

in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank

borrowings details of which are disclosed in note 28

Borrowings carried at floating rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at

fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to

hedge its exposure to interest rate risk

NWot FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 3.1 Financial risk factors continued

1I Liquidity risk continued

Within year

HK$000

17955
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial risk factors continued

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

continued

As at 31 March 2010 if the interest rates on borrowings

had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other

variables held constant post-tax loss for the year

would have boen HK$330000 higher/lower 2009 post-

tax profit would have been HK$291000 lower/higher

mainly as result of higher/lower interest expense on

floating rate borrowings

Effective from April 2009 the Group adopted the amendment

to HKFRS for financial instruments that are measured in the

balance sheet at fair value this requires disclosure of fair value

measurements by level of the following fair value measurement

hierarchy

Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities level

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level

that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly that is as prices or indirectly that is derived

from prices level

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data that is unobservable inputs

level

As at 31 March 2010 and 2009 all the resulting fair value

estimates on the available-for-sale financial assets are included

in level whereas those of the derivative financial instruments

are included in level

3.2 ifltt 3.2 Fair value estimation
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.2 Fair value estimation continued

The fair value of financial instruments trade in active markets

is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date

market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and

regularly available from an exchange dealer broker industry

group pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions

on an arms length basis The quoted market price used for

financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price

These instruments are included in level Instruments included

in level comprise primarily equity investments classified as

available-for-sale which are publicly traded in the Hong Kong

Stock Exchange

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in

an active market for example over-the-counter derivatives

is determined by using valuation techniques These valuation

techniques maximise the use-of observable market data where

it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific

estimates If all significant inputs required to fair value an

instrument are observable the instrument is included in level

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on

observable market data the instrument is included in level

The fair value estimates on forward foreign currency contracts

as at 31 March 2009 was determined primarily based on

forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date and are

included in level

31 March 2010
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

The Groups objectives when managing capital are to safeguard

the Groups ability to continue as going concern in order

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital

The Group manages the capital structure and makes

adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group

may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders return

capital to shareholders issue new shares or to obtain new bank

borrowings

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing

ratio This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings include current and

non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance

sheet less cash and cash equivalents Total capital is calculated

as equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus

net debt

31 March 2010

3.3 Capital risk management
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.3 Capital risk management continued

The table below analyses the Groups capital structure as at 31

March 2010 and 2009

Total borrowings Note 28

Less Cash and cash equivalents Note 27

230951

166627

195841

124556

Net debt

Total equity

Total capital

Gearing ratio

3493020005

331 645000t 1111

2911170O0Ll

64324

361000

425324

15%

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$OOO

71285

384571

455856

16%

There is no material change in the Groups gearing ratio during the year

As at 31 March 2010 the total banking facilities made available to

the Group amounting to approximately HK$349302000 2009

HK$331645000 of which approximately HK$291117000 2009

HK$231614000 was utilised by the Group
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and ludgements used in preparing financial statements

are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and

other factors including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances The resulting accounting

estimates will by definition seldom equal the related actual results

The estimates and assumptions that have significant risk of causing

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below

Useful lives residual values and depreciation of property

plant and equipment

The Groups management determines the estimated useful lives

residual values and related depreciation charges for its property

plant and equipment other than construction-in-progress with

reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to

derive future economic benefits from use of these assets This

estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual

useful lives of property plant and equipment of similar nature

and functions Management will revise the depreciation charge

where useful lives or residual values are different to that of

previously estimated or it will write-off or write-down technically

obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or

sold

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives and

actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values

Periodic review could result in change in depreciable lives and

residual values and therefore depreciation expense in future

periods

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered

any impairment Note 17 Other non-financial assets including

property plant and equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable The recoverable amounts have been determined

based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to

sell These calculations require the use of judgements and

estimates

li9 76
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT continued

Impairment of non-financial assets continued

Management judgement is required in the area of asset

impairment particularly in assessing whether an event has

occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may

not be recoverable ii whether the carrying value of an asset

can be supported by the recoverable amount being the higher

of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future

cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued

use of the asset in the business and iii the appropriate key

assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections

including whether these cash flow projections are discounted

using an appropriate rate changing the assumptions selected

by management in assessing impairment including the

discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow

projections could materially affect the net present value used in

the impairment test and as result affect the Groups financial

position and results of operations If there is significant

adverse change in the projected performance and resulting

future cash flow projections it may be necessary to take an

impairment charge to the income statement

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price

in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of

completion and selling expenses These estimates are based

on the current market condition and the historical experience

of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature It could

change significantly as result of changes in customer taste

and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle

Management reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet

date

Impairment of receivables

u1a The Groups management determines the provision for

impairment of trade and notes receivables other receivables

and amount due from an associated company based on

an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables The

assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and

other debtors and the current market condition and requires

the use of judgements and estimates Management reassesses

the provision at each balance sheet date

211f
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT continued

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income

taxes in each of these jurisdictions There are transactions and

calculations during the ordinary course of business for which

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain Where the final tax

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that

were initially recorded such differences will impact the income

tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary

differences and tax losses are recognised when management

considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be

available against which the temporary differences or tax losses

can be utilised When the expectation is different from the

original estimates such differences will impact the recognition

of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the

period in which such estimates is changed

Turnover

Sales of goods 1628377 1542134

31 March 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO
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The Group is principally engaged in the design development

manufacturing and distribution of electronic components contract

electronic manufacturing services and consumer electronics and the

distribution of personal computer products

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive

directors collectively referred to as the cODM that make strategic

decisions The CODM reviews the internal reporting of the company

and its subsidiaries in order to assess performance and allocate

resources Management has determined the operating segments based

on these reports

The CODM considers the business from the perspective of the nature

of operations and the type of products including the Electronic

components Distribution contract Electronic Manufacturing

Services consumer Electronics and Electronic components

Manufacturing and Personal computer Distribution

Each of the Groups operating segments represents strategic business

unit that is managed by different business unit leaders Inter-segment

transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and

conditions that would normally be available to unrelated third parties

CDDM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on

measure of profit before income tax Other information provided to

the CODM is measured in manner consistent with that in the financial

statements

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred tax assets available-

for-sale financial assets and corporate assets mainly including certain

corporate properties and equipment and corporate cash and bank

balances all of which are managed on central basis Liabilities of

reportable segments exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities

corporate borrowings and other corporate liabilities These are part of

the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities

79 39 333 71
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continued

Segment information continued
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Yearended3l March2010

3$ u114141

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Revenue

Sales of goods 1083193 150352 132812 262020 1628377

Results of reportable segments 27226 2871 42044 5224 12465

reoonoiliation of resulfs of reporf able1nT segments fo loss for fhe year is as follows

Results of reportable segments 12465

Unallooafed
expenses 9867

Operating results 22332

11 Finanoe oosfs nef 3619

Loss before income tax 25951

Income faa
expense 5410

fl Loss for the year 31361

1th21I$ Other segment information

Capifal expenditure 1706 9066 6753 317 17842

Loss on disposal on property planf and

equipwenf 50 50

Depmoiaf ion on properfy planf and equipmenf 3163 2127 10518 422 16230

1tf41 Amorfisafion of leasehold land and

land use righfs 537 537

lwpairmenf of property plant and equipmenf 14200 14200

lwpairwenf
of invenfories 7354 16251 23605

Write down of invenfories 1807 421 2228

lmpairmenf of frade receivables 161 435 596

1ft9 1j 80
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31 March 2010

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

Segment information continued

Year ended 31 March 2010

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Segment assets

Segment assets 401359 89985 153780 58167 703291

Goodwill 28121 28121

401359 89985 153780 86288 731412

Available-for-sale financial assets 305

Deferred income tax assets 927

Other unallocated assets 149258

Total assets per consolidated

balance sheet 881902

Segment liabilities 381915 30767 42760 27847 483289

Current income tax liabilities 1596

Deferred income tax liabilities 1877

Other unallocated liabilities 34140

Total liabilities per consolidated

balance sheet 520902

81 tF
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

Segment information continued

Year ended 31 March 2009

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Revenue

Sales of goods 795098 223490 215197 308349 1542134

Results of reportable segments 24388 4387 12372 2529 18932

reconciliation of results of reportable

segments to profit for the
year is as follows

Results of reportable segments 18932

Unallocated income 11817

Unallocated
expense 13459

Operating profit 17290

Finance costs net 7826

Profit before income tax 9464

Income tax expense 2735

Profit for the year 6729

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 2397 3407 18431 517 24752

Gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use

rights 11805 11805

Depreciation on property plant and equipment 4612 2069 10194 406 17281

Amortisation of leasehold land and

land use rights 595 595

Write-down of inventories 3233 3285 6518

Impairment of trade receivables 1433 280 696 2409
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31 March 2010

k1 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
continued

Segment information continued

Yearended3l March2009

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manutacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manutacturing Distribution Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Segment assets

Segment assets 330421 83144 116459 47800 577824

Goodwill 22704 22704

330421 83144 116459 70504 600528

Available-for-sale financial assets 168

Deterred income tax assets 172

Other unallocated assets 144450

Total assets
per

consolidated

balance sheet 745318

Segment liabilities

Segment liabilities 200995 12836 44759 24119 282709

Current income tax liabilities 2616

Deterred income tax liabilities 3347

Other unallocated liabilities 72075

Total liabilities per consolidated

balance sheet 360747

Daiwa Assocte Hod ns Lrrited
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
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Segment information continued
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Hong Kong

Mainland China

North America

Europe

Other Asian countries

Ij1O936000JL
10785000
lj 196935000

2lOO22OOO5t

The entity is domiciled in Hong Kong The revenue from external

customers attributed to Hong Kong and other locations are analysed as

follows

Revenue from

external customers

961068 652266

205260 241619

272306 418827

162542 193203

27201 36219

1628377 1542134

At 31 March 2010 the total of non-current assets other than goodwill

financial instruments and deferred tax assets there are no employment

benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts located in

Hong Kong is approximately HK$10936000 2009 HK$10785000

and the total of these non-current assets located in other locations

mainly in the Mainland China and Canada is approximately

HK$196935000 2009 HK$210022000

31 March 2010

2010

HK$000

2009

HK$ 000
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31 March 2010

1thX OTHER INCOME

2010 2009

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

Rental income 355 499

Others 323 330

678 829

47000L The direct outgoing in respect of the rental income is HK$47000 2009

580005t HK$58000

1thL OTHER GAINS NET

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Loss/gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land

use rights 50 11805

Fair value loss/gain on derivative financial

instruments 201 6480

Write-off of interest in jointly controlled

entity

Net exchange gains 3827 1151

3575 19436

85 EE iLi 5J

Daiwa AssociaL Hodngs Lrned



r1t Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2010

EXPENSES BY NATURE

2009

HK$ 000

LW9

changes in inventories of trading

merchandise finished goods and

work-in-progress

Trading merchandise raw materials and

consumables used

Auditors remuneration

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use

rights

Depreciation

owned property plant and equipment

property plant and equipment held

under finance leases

Employment benefit expenses including

directors emoluments Note

Provision for impairment of inventories

Note 24

Impairment of property plant and equipment

Note 18

Impairment of trade receivables included in

general and administrative expenses

Write-down of inventories

Operating lease rental in respect of land and

buildings

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repair and maintenance expenses

Other expenses

Representing

cost of sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

1654962

1512405

21421

121136

1545109

1398671

26771

119667

1654962 1545109

t2fl

2010

HK$ 000

33347 20688

1449238

2447

1287760

2233

537 595

16230 17006

275

111916 137132

23605

14200

596

2228

7355

21463

5103

2409

6518

6955

18476

6980

380 1019

3599 3219

29412 33844

86
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31 March 2010

EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employment benefit expenses including directors emoluments

consists of

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Wages salaries and allowances 100973 121142

Bonuses 3125 3782

Pension costs defined contribution plans 4272 5822

Welfare and benefits 3546 6388

111916 137132

10 MLL2$ 10 FINANCE COSTS NET

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Interest income from bank deposits 82 224

Interest expense on bank loans wholly

repayable within five years 4042 6923
Interest element of finance leases 16 154

Others 357 973

3701 8050

Finance costs net 3619 7826

87 lF.1 177 77 177 J77 77 717 77
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E1 31 March 2010

11

16.5%tM

25%

35%

t.Iju
ft

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax

PRC corporate income tax

Canada income tax

3577

2220

1838

fit32
Deferred taxation relating to the origination

and reversal of temporary differences

Note 32 2225 919

5410 2735

The taxation on the Groups loss/profit before income tax differs from

the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax

rate as follows

16.5%

165%
is

Loss/profit before income tax

Calculation at taxation rate of 16.5%

2009 16.5%

Effect of difference tax rate

Tax effect of income not subject to tax

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of change in tax rate

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax

losses

Withholding tax

Others

25951

4282
1715
2598
4046

9162

64
227

634

9464

1562

1241

3605
2287

4623

210

765
196

112

tJ Taxation charge 5410 2735

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda Hong Kong profits tax

has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% 2009 16.5% on the estimated

assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong Companies

established and operated in the Mainland China are subject to PRC corporate

income tax at the rate of 25% 2009 25% Companies established and

operated in Canada are subject to Canadian income tax at the rate of 35%

2009 35%

Current taxation

2010

HK$ 000

2009

HK$ 000

1762

1259

633

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$ 000
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12 12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS
EMOLUMENTS

III Directors emoluments

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for

the year ended 31 March 2010 is set out below

Contribution

MtI to retirement

Salaries and Discretionary benefit

Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan 3247 162 3409

Ms CHAN Yuen Mei Pinky 1111 56 1167

Mr WAN Chor Fai 1073 45 1118

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly 1294 550 63 1907

Independent non-executive directors

Mr
Barry

John BUTTIFANT 100 100

Mr LIU Ngai Wing 75 75

Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 50

225 6725 550 326 7826

89 L1 l8
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31 March 2010

No director waived any emoluments during the year 2009 Nit

No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join

or as compensation for loss of office during the year 2009 Nil

No director has been granted or exercised any share option

during the year 2009 Nil

12 IAfl
IX4

sr

12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS
EMOLUMENTS continued

Directors emoluments continued

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for

the year ended 31 March 2009 is set out below

Name of Director

Executive directors

Mr LAU Tak Wan

Ms CHAN Vuen Mei Pinky

Mr WAN Chor Fai

Mr MAK Hon Kai Stanly

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr LIU Ngai Wing

MrCHOIYuk Fan

Contribution

to retirement

Salaries and Discretionary benefit

Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total

fT
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

3209 370 162 3741

1098 106 55 1259

1238 112 52 1402

1258 635 63 1956

100 100

75 75

50 50

225 6803 1223 332 8583

ly. 90
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12 DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS
EMOLUMENTS continued

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

Group for the year include four 2009 four directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above The

emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one 2009 one

individual are as follows

830 923

The emoluments fell within the following band

Number of individual

2010 2009

1000000 Nil HK$1000000

During the year no emolument was paid to the five highest

paid individuals including directors and other employees as

inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office 2009

Nil

-W
2010 2009

77
HK$OOO HK$OOO

Basic salaries and allowances 748 841

Discretionary bonus 70 70

Pension scheme contribution 12 12

91
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13 itt-t 13 PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

1- Ii lii
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5700O
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The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes the

retirement scheme organised under the Hong Kong Occupational

Retirement Schemes Ordinance ORSO Scheme and the Mandatory

Provident Fund Scheme MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong

Kong The assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held

separately from those of the Group under independently administered

funds

Under the ORSO Scheme the Group and each of its employees

make monthly contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% and

5% respectively of the employees salary The unvested benefits of

employees who have terminated employment are utilised by the Group

to reduce its future contributions The unvested benefits so utilised

under the scheme during the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted

to approximately HK$49000 2009 Nil and the amount of unvested

benefits as at 31 March 2010 that are available to reduce the Groups

future contributions was approximately HK$8000 2009 HK$57000

Under the MPF Scheme each of the Group and its employees

makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees

relevant income as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

Ordinance Both the Groups and the employees contributions are

subjected to cap of HK$1000 per month and thereafter contributions

are voluntary The contributions are fully and immediately vested in the

employees

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the Mainland China the

Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its relevant

employees in the Mainland China The Groups relevant employees

make monthly contributions to the plans at approximately 5% of the

relevant income comprising salaries allowances and bonus while the

Group makes monthly contributions at approximately to 10% of such

relevant income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of

post-retirement benefits beyond its contributions The state-sponsored

retirement plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits

payable to retired employees

fl li 92
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13 PENSION SCHEMES continued

Canada

TJI
4.95%

331000 it 46525 jl it

276000it44900jitit

The Group is required to make monthly contribution to the National

Canada Pension Plan CPP in respect of its employees in Canada

based on the relevant employees salaries with the exceptions of

certain excluded employment and benefits at rate of 4.95% 2009

4.95% of the employees salaries subject to maximum annual

pensionable earnings of HK$331000 equivalent to CAD46525 2009

HK$276000 equivalent to CAD44900

14 14 LOSS/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

A17000L Ij
10866000it

0.3

0.3iWff/O5fW
0.5 iWflhiÆt ii

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in

the financial statements of the Company to the extent of HK$17000

2009 profit of HK$10866000

15 DIVIDENDS

Interim paid of HKO.3 cents

2009 HKO.3 cent per share note

Final proposed of Nil 2009 HKO.5 cents

per share note ii

2009

HK$ 000

Notes

911 2429

1ff

1fff911000iffb

9iiooOffit

ii

iTh

%1ft

At meeting held on 27 November 2009 the Companys directors

declared an interim dividend of HK0.3 cents per share totalling

HK$911000 which was paid on January 2010

In November 2008 the Companys directors declared an interim dividend

of HKO.3 cent per share totalling HK$911000 which was paid on

January 2009

liii
No final dividend is declared by the Companys directors for the year

ended 31 March 2010

At meeting held on 21 July 2009 the Companys directors proposed

final dividend of HKO.5 cents per share This proposed dividend had

been reflected as an appropriation of retained profits
for the year ended

31 March 2010

15

2010

HK$OOO

911 911

1518
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16 16 LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

/JIT

/Ij

IQ

i/i

Basic loss/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the

loss/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year

Loss/profit attributable to equity holders of

the Company HK$OOO

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue 000

Basic loss/earnings per share

HK cents per share

2010 2009

Diluted loss/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to

assume conversion of all the Companys outstanding warrants

Dilutive loss/earnings per share for the year ended 31 March

2010 and 2009 equal basic loss/earnings per share as the

exercise of the outstanding warrants would be anti-dilutive

%J

17 GOODWILL

Beginning of the year

Exchange differences

2009

HK$OOO

End of the year 28277 22860

Accumulated impairment losses

As at April and 31 March 156 156

Net book amount 28121 22704

31630 7115

303643 303895

10.42 2.34

Diluted

17

Cost

2010

HK$OOO

22860

5417

28355

5495
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17 GOODWILL continued

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Groups cash-generating units identified

according to operating segment As at 31 March 2009 and 2010 all

the goodwill is allocated to the Distribution of Personal Computers

segment in Canada

For the purposes of impairment reviews the recoverable amount of

goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations These

calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets

approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews

covering five-year period Cash flows beyond the five years periods

are extrapolated according to zero-growth assumption

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows

Canada

operations

2010

LIi0

9%

0% to 12%

13%

The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based

on past performance and its expectation for market development

The growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the

industry growth forecast The annual discount rate is before tax and

reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific risks

relating to the relevant segment Management has considered the

above assumptions and valuation and has also taken into account

the business expansion plan going forward Management believes

that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key

assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to

exceed the recoverable amount Judgment is required to determine key

assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and the changes to

key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections

Ij Gross margin

Growth rate

Discount rate

95 .i
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18 18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Leasehold

improvements

furniture

Plant and fixtures and Moulds and Construction-

Buildings machinery equipment Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

ITitil At April 2009

Cost 122622 142479 44955 6095 21036 337187

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 14945 84941 24320 4582 9615 138403

Net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 11421 198784

Year ended 31 March 2010

i1N

Opening net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 11421 198784

Eochange difterences 170 151 217 121 357

Additions 746 3030 613 1856 11597 17842

Disposals 45 123 168

Depreciation 2554 8592 2507 296 2281 16230

Impairment Note 7642 1839 4719 14200

Closing net book amount 105293 41854 19413 1951 6277 11597 186385

At 31 March 2010

Cost 122792 142848 47997 6829 22892 11597 354955

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 17499 100994 28584 4878 16615 168570

Net book amount 105293 41854 19413 1951 6277 11597 186385

JQ 1K 96
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18 18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
continued

Group continued

Leasehold

improvements

furniture

Plant and fixtures and Moulds and Construction-

Buildings machinery equipment Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total

fi Mr
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

TIA Ati April2008

Cost 119948 131321 42070 6032 17583 316954

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 13030 75697 22015 4225 7443 122410

Net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 10140 194544

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount 106918 55624 20055 1807 10140 194544

Eochange difterences 101 39 152 213

Additions 6t68 11268 3663 200 3453 24752

Disposals 2623 21 373 3018

Depreciation 2685 9372 2558 494 2172 17281

Closing net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 1142t t98784

IEE At31 March2009

Cost 122622 142479 44955 6095 21036 337187

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment 14945 84941 24320 4582 9615 t38403

Net book amount 107677 57538 20635 1513 11421 198784

97 1U 77
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18 flaflg 18 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
continued

Net book value of the buildings is analysed as follows

fl
Group

In Hong Kong held on

Leases of between 10 to 50 years

nflhi

2009

HK$OOO

3475 3585

10-502WJ
5ottAflfi

Outside Hong Kong held on

Leases of between 10 to 50 years

Leases of over 50 years

100922 103137

896 955

Wt75110005iXnflil
8141000 it it it 8719000

9140000itMito-5
Wi$1559000t

Note

l1JtWtt1 thh ti14200000ittAQE
if

flo

During the year the directors conducted review of the Groups property plant

and equipment having regard to its plan to scale down certain low profit margin

product lines and the consolidation of certain of the Groups manufacturing

operations These assets are used in the Consumer Electronics and Electronic

Components Manufacturing segment Consequently impairment losses of

HK$14200000 have been identified and recognised in the consolidated income

statement The recoverable amounts of the relevsnt assets have been determined

on the basis of their fair value less costs to sell The directors determined the

recoverable amounts of these assets with reference to the market values of

similar assets on scrap sales basis

2010

HK$OOO

105293 107677

Depreciation expense of HK$7511000 2009 HK$8141000 has been

charged in the cost of sales and HK$8719000 2009 HK$9140000

has been included in general and administrative expenses At 31 March

2010 the Group did not have any plant and machinery under finance

leases As at 31 March 2009 the Group had plant and machinery of

approximately HK$1559000 held under finance leases

.$ if if 98
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19 ithth1 19 LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

The Groups interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent

prepaid operating lease payments and their net book amounts are

analysed as follows

Group YL
2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Opening net book amount 21312 25208

Exchange differences 20

Amortisation 537 595

Disposals 3321

Closing net book amount 20776 21312

Cost 31474 31473

Accumulated amortisation 10698 10161

Net book amount 20776 21312

Geographical analysis

In Hong Kong held on

10-50 Leases of between 10 to 50 years 4436 4571

Outside Hong Kong held on

10-50flJ Leases of between 10 to 50 years 16149 16546

Leasesofover5Oyears 191 195

20776 21312

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in

general and administrative expenses

99 t2
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31 March 2010

20 flJDW9 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Unlisted shares at cost 44715 44723

Particulars of significant subsidiaries are as follows

Place of flflfl Percentage

incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up
share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

finn
Interests held directly

Daiwa BVI Limited tO000$ic 100% flflU

British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands us$ioooo Limited
liability company Investment holdings

Interests held indirectly

2t 100% flu1H% loIn

Chiasso Inc British Virgin Islands Mainland China US$2 Limited liability company
Sob-contract manutactaring

2fl 100% lolflh%

Daiwa Associate Ltd British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

i000fl 100% lol%Lf

Daiwa Distribation Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands British
Virgin

Islands US$1000 Limited
liability cnmpany

Investment holdings

Elite Centary Holdings Ltd 2500000lt 100% i%iEUl0l fl0

British Virgin Islands Hang Kong US$2500000 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

1o000fl 100% UjE% US
Ccsmos Power Hnldings Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited

liability company
Investment holdings

2U 100% UE%
Cypmss Distribatinn Limited Hong Knng Hang Kong HK$2 Limited

liability company
Manafactare of cvnsumer

electrnnics

L1 7U ti 100

Daiwa Aaaociate Holdiaqa Liwitad
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31 March 2010

20 flJjfl 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

$th
Place of iili Percentage

incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

Interests held indirectly continued

2iic 100% LL%
Cypress Electronics Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liability company

Manutacture ot consumer

electronics

100OOOO 100% liO
Daiwa Acoustic Products Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1000000 Limited

liability company Manutacturing and trading
01

Manutacturing Limited acoustic products

2t 100% li
Daiwa Associate China Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited

liability company Property holdings

J100t 100%

Daiwa Associate IRK Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Limited
liability company Management and

HK$100 administrative service

3000000

Non-voting

deterred shares

HK$3000000

vote ii

5000000it 100% tIf%
Daiwa Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5000000 Limited

liability company Distribution ot electronic

components

10000k 100% IfO
Daiwa Digital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited liability company

Distribution ot electronic

components

O0i 10000t 100% RL00i 1101

Daiwa Electronic Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10000 Limited liability company
Investment holdings

11 5000 100% 111010

Daiwa Industrial Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5000 Limited
liability company

Investment holdings

101 Li
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20 $9t6rn 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Place of flifl BViiflLQ4 Percentage

incorporation Principal place Issued and fully of equity

Company establishment of operatioo paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

flflfl iS
Interests held indirectly continued

100000MDP 100% EL5i
Daiwa Maautactaring Macan Commercial Macau Macau MOF$1 00000 Limited

liability company Maaatactare at electronic

Dttahare Company Limited campanenta and

cannamer pradactn

4L 100%

Daiwa Maautactariag Limited Hang Kong Haag Kang HK$4 Limited
liability campany ll$

Manatactare at electranic

campaneata and

manutacturing seruicea

at electraaic pradacta

100t 100% flliL

Daiwa Maaiwarld Limited Haag Kang Hang Kang HK$100 Limited
liability campany

Diatribatian at electranic

campaneata

i000 100% flLi5

Daiwa latercannect Limited
Hang Kang Hung Kong HK$1000 Limited

liability campany Diatribatian at Electranic

Campanentn

10000U 100% flJ flU

Daiwa Preciaiaa Induatrial Ltd Haag Kong Hung Kaag HK$10000 Limited
liability campany

Pracurement at materiala

5000U tOO% flif flU

Daiwa Reaaarces Limited Hang Kang Hang Kang HK$5000 Limited
liability campany Inneatment haldinga

tflfl% tOO% Urcflt%

Daiwa Syntem Limited Hang Kong Hang Kang HK$4 Limited
liability campany Trading at computer

campaneata

tOO% flfl flU
Daiwa Trading Gaaegdaag Ltd Hang Kang Hang Kang HK$4 Limited liability campany laneatment haldiaga

lmtec Campanenta Ltd 10000 100% flU5i tSfl

Haag Kang Hang Kong HK$10000 Limited
liability campany laaeatment haldiaga

tyj.i 02 02 It 102
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20 Jijfl2Lf 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

an/nfl
Place of Percentage

incorporationl Principal place Issued and fully of equity Ifl$E

Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

Interests held indirectly continued

2000000 95% flE%

Unity Electrical Industrial Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2Oggggo Limited
liability company Manutacture at electric wire

U0i ioU gg Ulii%

Vastpaint lmtec Electronics Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 Limited
liability company Distributinn nt electronic

components

yy tfl%

Beijing Daiwa Vastpoint
Electronics Mainland China Mainland China 9g00g0k% Wholly tareign-awned Distribution at electronic

Technology Ltd Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

RMB9OgOgo

100% flU%
China Faith Electronics Heyaan Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 1200000 Wholly toreign-awned Manutacture ot consumer

Registered and enterprise
electronics

paid up capital

US$1200000

tflBflA%M 100% fl%%
Dongguan Cosmos Electrnnics Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 2000.000t Wholly toreign-owned Contract electronic

Registered and enterprise manutacture sernice

paid up capital

RMB2000000

flEfl200000 100% %fUfl
Daiwa Component Shanghai Ltd Mainland China Mainland China Wholly tareign-awned Distributinn at electronic

Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

US$200000

100% tfl%
Daiwa Component Shenzhen Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 2000000% Wholly toreign-awned Distribution at electranic

Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

HK$2000000

103 13 13 13 13 13 01
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20 WIMiJW 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

flWft

Place of Percentage

incorporationl Principal place Issued and fully of equity iIt
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held

Type
of

legal entity Principal actinities

Interests held indirectly continued

100% lflflf0

Daiwa Electronics Heyuan Co Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 3600000t Wholly foreign-owned

Registered and enterprise Contract electronic

paid up capital manutacture sernice

US$360%000 and manutacture 01

consumer electronics

100% II%
Daiwa Zhaoqing Electronics Industrial Mainland China Mainland China 3384000Tc Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electronic

Limited Registered and enterprise components

paid up capital

US$3384000

flFU35 EftEfl7t712050 100%

Dongguan Water Semi-Conductor Mainland China Mainland China 59858513 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electronic

Co Ltd enterprise components

Registered capital

HK$71712000

Paid op capital

HK$50858513

iftftCfl$ 100% ilfl0i

Maoi World
Technology Shenzhen

Mainland China Mainland China 3g0000j Wholly foreign-owned Distribution of electronic

Limited Registered and paid up enterprise components

capital US$300000

fl$2050000L 00% jL
Unity Industrial Heyuan Ltd Mainland China Mainland China 1748964 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electric wire

enterprise

Registered capital

US$2050000

Paid up capital

US$1748964

iW iW liW iW PR iJ O4
Daiwa Associate Hodiegs Limited
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20 IflWJ4W 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

ThtI2ft

Place of Jflfl Percentage

incorporationl Principal place Issued and folly of equity $ZINE

Compaoy establishment of operation paid op share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

Interests held indirectly coobooed

flBfl$ 100% tUOW
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics Shenzhvn Mainland China Mainland China 2000000 Whally toraign-owned Distribation of electronic

Ltd Regiotered and enterprise components

paid op capital

HK$2000000

flIT-fl flftBtfl 100% IflO
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics Shanghai Mainland China Mainland China t40000T-5L Wholly toreign-owned Distribat ion ot electronic

Ltd Registered and paid op enterprise components

capital US$140000

Daiwa Distribation Alberta Inc 20l5L 100% LfO0
Alberta Canada Canada CAD12O Limited liability company

ITI

Sales and dist ribat ion of

compater goods and

electronic goods

Daiwa Dial ribot ion B.C Inc l$PfWW 300000 $lic 100% If0
British Colombia Canada Canada CAD300000 Limited

liability company

Sales and dist ribat ion of

compafer goods and

electronic goods

Daiwa Distribution Nooa Scotia Inc blhPJ1flW t00liL tOO% WO
Nooa Scotia Canada Canada CAD100 Limited

liability company
IT-

Sales and dist ribat ion at

compafer goods and

electronic
goods

Daiwa Dist ribat ion Ont aria Inc itT- 700000 lit 100% J0
Ontario Canada Canada CAD700000 Limited

liability company
IT-6ª

Sales and distribution of

compater goods and

electronic gands

105 iE 4.ttc fl9 T4 15
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20 JflW6 20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

Notes

100% MLfitOI

Limited
liability campany

100% iEit%

Limited
liability company

lnoestment holdings

Sales and distribation of

compoter goods and

electronic goods

$P0
i00% 11 t0

flSflt

yl
ffiUtit4

004 $E
ioo000000000000itiL

if nHEP

The above list includes ehe subsidiaries of ehe Company which in ehe

opinion oe the Companys direceors and the Groups management

principally
contributed the results or formed substantial portion of the

net assets of the Group To give details of other subsidiaries would result

ii The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights and are

not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless sum of

HK$100000000000000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary

iii None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during

the year ended 31 March 2010

flft/flfl

Place of ftflfl EiiilU Percentage

incorporationl Principal place lnnued and fully of equity
tW

Company establishment of
operation paid up

share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities

flflflii
Interests held indirectly coshnaed

Daiwa
Holdings

Inc baititt tit 223015 bait 100% $Sit%

Ontario Canada Canada CAD2230t5 Limited
liability company Inoestintent holdings

Daiwa Precision tndostrial Ltd btititllb blit siL

Ontario Canada Canada CAD1

Daiwa Semitron Sopplias Canada Inc iLiLiLf0 haiL bait

Ontario Canada Canada COOt

Westpac Holdings Inc bliLiLiLf03 laA tlaTc tOO% $flit0

Ontario Canada Canada COOl Limited
liability company Property holdings

Wastpac Tachoology Inc ta$iLiLiLft baiL haiL 100% fl1f 0% ftbb

Ontario Canada Canada COOl Limited
liability company

lnoastmant holdings

in particulars of exceasive length

shares

ti Thu ud yD itt pit iifl

Daiwa Associate Hodisgs Limited

106



ftIit Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2010

21 II4 21 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Net book amount

The Group has interests in the following jointly controlled entity which is

established in the Mainland China

/1iI
Nature Principal Ownership Voting Profit/loss

Name of entity activities interest power sharing

60% 60% 60%

Sino-Foreign Inactive

Daiwa Southern Precision cooperative

Industrial Limited joint venture

During the year the directors of the Company resolved to write off

the Groups interest in jointly controlled entity as the entity has been

inactive since 2005 and did not have substantial value to the Group

107
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31 March 2010

22 22 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Net book amount

Details of the associated company which is limited liability company

established and operating in Japan are as follows

Issued and Percentage

fully paid of equity

Name up capital interest held Principal activity

23400000H F1 47%

Daiwa Sound company Limited YEN23400000 Trading and manufacturing of speaker

DSC elements and components

108
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31 March 2010

23 23 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Beginning of the year 168 319

Net gains/posses transferred to equity 137 151

End of the year 305 168

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Listed securities

Equity securities Hong Kong denominated in

Hong Kong dollar 305 168

Market value of listed securities 305 168

109
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24 24 INVENTORIES

Group

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$OOO

Inventories net

Notes

235927 205304

1415891000j-L
3893930O0

ii 2228000l
6518000it

iii jt5T

t$ $1

tiI1625l 000

itL DSC
7354000

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of

sales in the consolidated income statement amounted to approximately

HK$1415891000 2009 HK$1389393000

ii Write-down of inventories amounted to HK$2228000 2009
HK$6518000 which have been included in cost of sales in the

consolidated income statement

iii Movement on the provision for inventory is as follows

At 31 March 25417

Included in provision for impairment for the year was an amount of

approximately HK$16251000 made in connection with the Groups

plan to scale down certain low profit margin product lines In addition

during the year the Group also agreed to accept return of certain

inventories from DSC as partial settlement of the amount due from DSC

The conditions of the returned inventories has been re-evaluated by the

directors as at the balance sheet date and consequently provision of

HK$7354000 has been made thereon

JU4

Th

Trading merchandise

Raw materials

Work-in-progress

Finished goods

Inventories gross

Provision for impairment

132595

92066

25455

11228

261344

25417

94499

71185

20271

21161

207116

1812

At April

Provision for inventory impairment

Group

2010

HK$OOO

1812

23605

2009

HK$000

1812

1812
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31 March 2010

25 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trade receivables 196701 130714

Less provision for impairment 1467 2745

195234 127969

Notes receivable 13036 11663

208270 139632

Note

The carrying amount of the Groups trade receivables are denominated

in the following currencies

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Hong Kong dollar 57899 51974

Chinese Renminbi 53905 29565

United States dollar 63459 30039

Canadian dollar 21438 19136

196701 130714

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables

as there are large number of widely dispersed customers

111 EL
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31 March 2010

25 AI 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES continued

/J Note continued

Majority of the Groups sales are made on open account with credit

terms generally ranging from 30 days to 90 days The ageing analysis of

trade receivables is as follows

Group

w-T
2010

HK$OOO

196701 130714

At 31 March 2010 trade receivables approximately of HK$65716000

2009 HK$49202000 were past due but not considered to be impaired

because these mainly relate to number of independent customers for

whom there is no recent history of default The ageing analysis of these

trade receivables is as follows

Group

2010

HK$OOO

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

47676 30312

12121 9933

5919 8957

65716 49202

J5 tb

1467000 2745000Er
1467000 iL

2745000fr

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired

has been assessed by reference to historical information about the

counterparty default rates The existing counterparties do not have

significant
defaults in the past

At 31 March 2010 trade receivables of approximately HK$1467000

2009 HK$2745000 were impaired The amount of the provision

was HK$1467000 as of 31 March 2010 2009 HK$2745000 The

individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in

unexpected difficult economic situations The ageing of these receivables

is as follows

Group

2010

HK$OOO

Over 120 days 1467 2745

.--H
6571600049202000 thL

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

2009

HK$000

100969

18043

11702

140484

45144

11073

j-t
2009

HK$000

2009

HK$000

li.i iOi 112
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31 March 2010

25 25 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES continued

Iw Note continued

Group

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$000

IJ FbI

At April

Provision for trade receivable impairment

Receivables written off during the year as

uncollectable

At 31 March

120L120
11551000

11 1485000

The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values

due to their short maturity As at 31 March 2010 all the notes receivable

represent bank acceptance notes issued by third parties with average

maturity of within 120 days 2009 120 days and HK$11551000 being

denominated in RMB 2009 HK$11663000 and HK$1485000 being

denominated in USD 2009 Nil

5jT Movement on the provision for trade receivables is as follows

2745 1973

596 2409

1874 1637

1467 2745

Notes receivable

13
Daiwa Associate HoFdnqs Lmted
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31 March 2010

29472

Note

16885 109 114

31 31 3131 31 31 31

3868000 38680003131

31 3131 -f31 31 31 3131

313131

3131

3131i 3131 313131313131

LJ3131 J3131313131
313131 3J 3131 3131 3131

1313131
3131U3131313131313131 31

3131

Included in other receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was loan

due from an independent third party company of HK$3868000 2009 HK$

3868000 which is unsecured and interest free Pursuant to the original loan

agreement entered into with the third party in September 2007 the loan is

repayable on 23 September 2008 whereby the Group may at any time before

that convert the amount into 10% equity interest in the third party During the

year the Group continued to explore on exercising the convertible option and

supplementary agreements were subsequently signed by both parties which

ultimately extend the maturity date of the loan and the conversion period to 30

November 2009 with other terms remain unchanged As at 31 March 2010 while

the negotiation for acquisition of equity interest in the third party has been on

going the amount becomes repayable on demand The directors have assessed

the financial strength of the third party and are of the opinion that credit risk

for non-performance by this third party is relatively low and it is expected that

the receivable would either be recovered through repayment or as settlement

of consideration payable for the acquisition of equity interest in the third party

company

26 LE thL 26 PREPAYMENTS DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2010 2009 2010

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

109Prepayments

Rental deposits

Other receivables note

8961 6816

635 927

19876 9142

2009

HK$OOO

114

.4 .31 31 31 di 114
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31 March 2010

166627

121957 962

2599

124556 962 599

cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies

cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates The Groups cash and bank balance denominated in

RMB are deposited with banks in the Mainland china The conversion

of these RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and the

remittance of funds out of Mainland china is subject to the rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government

of the Peoples Republic of china

27 awii 27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group CompanyWW
2010 2009 2010 2009

7l
HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

599161850

4777

cash at bank

cash on hand

Hong Kong dollar

chinese Renminbi

United States dollar

canadian dollar

Others

Group

2010

HK$OOO

Company

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$ 000

33027

15396

71522

4566

2009

HK$ 000

59934358 962

19398

103786

8898

187 45

166627 124556 962 599

115 55
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31 March 2010

28 28 BORROWINGS

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Non-current

Bank borrowings 66151 69541

Less current portion of non-current bank

74WI5 borrowings 29471 35488

36680 34053

Current

Short-term bank borrowings 13000 16000

Current portion of non-current bank borrowings 29471 35488

Trust receipts bank loans 151800 109222

Finance lease liabilities note iv 1078

194271 161788

Total borrowings 230951 195841

1l1T The maturity of the borrowings is as follows

Group

2010 2009

7t
HK$OOO HK$OOO

Within year 194271 161788

Between and years 19060 34053

Between and years 17620

230951 195841
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31 March 2010

28 28 BORROWINGS continued

ii The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies

Group

2010 2009

HK$ 000 HK$OOO

Hong Kong dollar 180984 195483

United States dollar 49967 358

230951 195841

iii Hi The exposure of the Groups borrowings to interest rate changes

and the weighted average effective interest rates at the balance

sheet date are as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$ 000 HK$ 000

at floating rates 230951 195841

2010 2009

lx
HK$ US$ HK$ US$

Trust receipt bank loans 2.09% 2.12% 337% 2.20%

Bank borrowings 1.90% 3.44%

Finance lease liabilities 2.89%

All borrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts approximate

their fair values

117 7L1 Fi li J7 77

Daiwa Assocate HoHmgs Limited



Notes to the Finandal Statements

31 March 2010

28 iL 28 BORROWINGS continued

iv iv The Groups finance lease obligations were analysed as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Total minimum lease payments

Within one year 1083

Less Future finance charges

1078

The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as

follows

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Within one year 1078

29 29 TRADE PAYABLES

Payment terms with majority of the suppliers are on open account

Certain suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Less than 60 days 237737 130830

60 days to 120 days 12504 6084

Over 120 days 8468 1912

258709 138826

118

Dawa Asocae Hodngs Lmted



7f Notes to the Financial Statements

31 March 2010

29 29 TRADE PAYABLES continued

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies

--
2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$ 000

Group

2010

HK$ 000

Accrual for salaries and bonuses

Receipts in advance

Accrued operating expenses

construction fee payables

Other payables

10535

7580

7699

389

1566

9254

1981

4726

3594

528

31

ER-
658770007

27769 20083 425 428

31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 March 2010 the Group did not have any outstanding forward

foreign currency contracts As at 31 March 2009 the Group had

outstanding forward foreign currency contracts to sell/purchase United

States dollar and chinese Renminbi The notional principal amounts of

the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2009

were approximately HK$65877000

-W Yi
2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Hong Kong dollar 12726 13464

chinese Renminbi 14949 11600

United States dollar 223593 87873ii canadian dollar 6154 22590

UII JapaneseYen 1287 3299

30 114
258709 138826

30 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2009

HK$ 000

425 428

119 1.9 i1
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32

Ij

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is

legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax

liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal

authority The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are

after appropriate offsetting as follows

1L
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after

more than 12 months 1877 3347

Net deferred income tax liabilities 950

2010

HK$OOO

3175

2009

HK$OOO

i/ ii

2225 919

End of the year 950 3175

31 March 2010

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after

more than 12 months 927 172

The movement on deferred income tax account is as follow

Group

Beginning of the year

Credited to the consolidated income statement

Note 11

3175 4094

120
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31 March 2010

32 32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX continued

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of

balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows

Deferred tax assets

Beginning of the year 712

Credited/charged to the consolidated income

statement 1086

End of the year 1798 712

Deferred tax liabilities

Withholding tax

a- Vi
2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$000

Accelerated tax

depreciation

Z-
2010 2009

fL
HK$OOO HK$000

Total

At April

Charged/credited to the consolidated

income statement

IjiI

84441 000

47744000 6$
206990005YL

11601000

J773360007
$T7105000

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried

forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit

through the future taxable profits is probable The Group did not

recognise deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$20699000

2009 HK$11601000 in respect of accumulated losses amounting

to approximately HK$84441000 2009 HK$47744000 that can be

carried forward against future taxable income As at 31 March 2010

accumulated tax loss amounting to approximately HK$77336000 is

expiring in 2011 to 2015 while the remaining balance of approximately

HK$7105000 can be carried forward indefinitely to offset against future

taxable income

Ij/

Tax losses

2010

HK$ 000

2009

HK$OOO

1541

829

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$000

At 31 March

196

227 196

3691 5635 3887 5635

1366 1944 1139 1748

423 196 2325 3691 2748 3887

121
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31 March 2010

33 33 SHARE CAPITAL

2010 2009

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal

shares value shares value

000 HK$OOO 000 HK$OOO

Authorised

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1000000 100000 1000000 100000

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Beginning of the year 303644 30364 304230 30423

Issue of shares upon exercise of

/t warrants 326 33

Purchase of own shares ii 26 586 59

End of the year 303944 30394 303644 30364

Notes

ih3l During the year ended 31 March 2010 total of 326000 warrants were

utilised to subscribe for 326000 shares in the Company at an aggregate

326O00ff.Q3 t11Hfi130400it consideration of HK$130400 During the year ended 31 March 2009 no3it33 ih3J warrants were utilised to subscribe for the shares of the Company

ii i-h 3l ii During the year ended 31 March 2010 the Company repurchased 26000
1526000fQ it shares 2009 586000 shares for HK$7710 2009 HK$230010 These

586000 it flJ7710- it it shares were subsequently cancelled

230010it

Number of Price per share

shares

repurchased Lowest Highest

000 HK$ HK$

Date of repurchase

April 2009 26 0.280 0.300

Li i-i-i
i-li- ti- ti-t 4i- 122
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31 March 2010

34 1u 34 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

jiIlij
iii$59j

EJH-9

35

The Company has an employee share option scheme under which

it may grant options to employees including executive directors of

the Company to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to

maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of

the Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any shares

issued upon exercise of employee share options The exercise price

will be determined by the Companys board of directors and shall at

least be the highest of the closing price of the Companys shares

on the date of grant of the options ii an average closing price of the

Companys shares for the five days immediately preceding the date of

grant of the options and iii the nominal value of the Companys shares

of HK$0.10 each

No share options were granted or exercised during the year ended 31

March 2010 2009 Nil and no share options were outstanding as at 31

March 2010 2009 Nil

35 WARRANTS

23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012 HK$0.40 12313089 326000 11987089

J7326000
f.53 130400-hiE

During the year ended 31 March 2010 total of 326000 warrants

were utilised to subscribe for 326000 shares in the Company at an

aggregate consideration of HK$130400 During the year ended 31

March 2009 no warrants were utilised to subscribe for the shares of

the Company

jIi

Subscription Beginning of

Date of grant Exercise period price the year

Utilised Lapsed

during during End of

the year the year the year

23
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31 March 2010

36 36 RESERVES

Group

I1
Available-

for-sale

financial

fti Capital iii assets

Share Capital redemption Exchange Statutory revaluation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve ii reserve profits Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

t0L0 As April 2009

Loss for the year

Exchange translations

Issue ot new shares

Purchase ot own shares

Fair value gains on

available-tor-sale

90 26 95010 353732

31630 31630

tO350

97

tinancial assets

Dividends Note 15

At31 March2010

Representing

Proposed dividend

Others

137 137

2429 2429

215042 41201 1402 11411 90 163 60943 330252

60943

60943

214950 41201 1394 1061

10350

97
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31 March 2010

36 14L 36 RESERVES continued

At April 2008

Profit for the
yeor

Eochonge translations

Porchase of own ohoreo

Transfer

Fair voloe losses 00

available-tsr-sale

financial assets

Dividends

$24230tTit
5543 tfit it It

hªfl 0$ 055$

3d553it3855

tHfrIHH- H33514i3
055$ IHO4355j3t5551594000

t0$3$
th3
l233$

90 508 89466

715

230

331 331

Capital reserve of the Group represents the ditterence between

the nominal amount ot the share capital issued by the Company

and the nominal amount of the share capital ot the subsidiaries

transterred to the Company pursuant to group reorganisation

in lgg4 plus the credit ot HK$515g4000 trom share capital

as result of reduction of the Companys share capital took

place during the year ended 31 March 2000

Statutory reserve ot subsidiary in Mainland China can be

utilisad to oftset tuture losses or increase in capital of the

subsidiary

$g

551

kfli

Group continued

It
flfl fliJ Capital Un

Share Capital redemption Exchange

premium reserve reserve reserve

ffl

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

2t521 4t20t ff64 9790

8729

171 230

flu

In
Available-

for-sale

financial

assets

revalaation

reserve

HK$000

flWif

Statutory

reserve ii

HK$000

Un
Retained

profits

HK$000

itt

Total

HK$000

357340

7tts

8729

17

At 31 March 2009

Representing

Proposed dividend

Others

151 t5t

1672 1672

214950 4120 t394 1061 90 26 95010 353732

1518

93492

Note

95010

125 1c 3i 51 115 115
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31 March 2010

36 flcs

fl3

Proposed dividend

Others

36 RESERVES continued

Company

Note

1518

18939

20457

$63A4flL$
tt PS 83 tS 23

6443 3Daiwa BVI Limited

463 ff4 6648
3342fl

fl48ff4351 5940004

7E

W43JA25%A4ft3
36fl4tftI
3tfl

423 ii4844
43 44463 $4112641 24

The contributed surplus ot the Company represents the

ditterence between the nominal amount of the Companys
shares issued in exchange for the issued ordinary shares of

Daiwa BVI Limited and the value of net assets of its underlying

subsidiaries pursuant to group reorganisation in 1994 plus

the credit of HK$51594000 from share capital as result of

reduction of the Companys share capital took place during the

year ended 31 March 2000

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda contributed

surplus is distributable to shareholders subiect to the condition

that the Company cannot declare or pay dividend or make

distribution out of contributed surplus if it is or after the

payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or

ii the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than

the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and

share premium account

112653

8XiW 15

484
th

6flA4 1481W
112653

1121

At April 2009

Loss for the year

Purchase of own shares

Issue of new shares

Dividends Note 15

At 31 March 2010

Representing

Proposed dividend

Others

At April 2008

Profit for the year

Purchase of own shares

Dividends

At 31 March 2009

Representing

alfl
3fl Capital Xfli

Share redemption Contributed Retained lit

premium reserve surplus profits Totalft ft ft ft ft
Hk$OOO HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO HK$000

214951 1394 72309 20456 309110

17 17

97 97

2429 2429

215043 1402 72309 18002 306756

18002

18002

215121 1164 72309 11493 300087

10866 10866

171 230 230 171

1672 1672

214950 1394 72309 20457 309110

6j 26
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31 March 2010

37 tI 37 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of Ioss/profit before income tax to cash

generated from operations

2010 2009

14K$OOO HK$OOO

Loss/profit before income tax 25951 9464

Adjustments for

Interest income 82 224
Interest expense 3701 8050

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights 537 595

Depreciation of property plant and equipment 16230 17281

Impairment of trade receivables 596 2409

Write-down of inventories 2228 6518

Provision for impairment of inventories 23605
Impairment of property plant and equipment 14200

Write-off of investment in jointly controlled entity

Loss/gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use rights

50 11805
Fair value loss/gain on derivative financial

instruments 201 6480

35316 25808

changes in working capital

Inventories 56887 26752

Trade and notes receivables and amount due from

an associated company 56656 44564

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

12587 1538
Trade payables 121520 23033
Accruals and other payables 10891 4318

cash generated from operations 41597 68235

Ifiii In the consolidated statement of cash flows proceeds

from disposals of property plant and equipment and

leasehold land and land use rights comprise

2010 2009

f52
HK$OOO HK$000

Net book amount 168 6339

Loss/gain on disposal of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use rights

Ij 50 11805

Proceeds from disposals of property plant and

equipment and leasehold land and land use rights 118 18144
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31 March 2010

38 38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the balance sheet date are as follows

Group

Financial assets

2010

Available-

for-sale

financial Loans and

assets receivables Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Available-for-sale financial assets 305 305

Trade and notes receivables 208270 208270

Amount due from an associated company 4382 4382
Financial assets included in prepayments

deposits and other receivables note 26

/uit26 20511 20511

Cash and cash equivalents 166627 166627

305 399790 400095

Financial liabilities

Financial

liabilities

at amortised

cost Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trade payables 258709 258709

Bank borrowings 230951 230951

Financial liabilities included in accruals and

other payables Note 30
fl/3o 20189 20189

509849 509849

128
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31 March 2010

38 38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
continued

Group continued

Financial assets

2009

Financial

assets at Available-

fair value for-sale

through financial Loans and

profit or loss assets receivables Total

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

Available-for-sale

financial assets 168 168

Trade and notes

receivables 139632 139632

Amount due from an

associated company 14855 14855
Financial assets included

in prepayments

I/iI26 deposits and other

receivables note 26 10069 10069

Derivative financial

instruments 235 235

Cash and cash

equivalents 124556 124556

235 168 289112 289515

Financial liabilities

Financial

liabilities Financial

at fair value liabilities

through at amortised

profit or loss cost Total

HK$000 HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trade payables 138826 138826

Bank borrowings excluding finance

lease liabilities 194763 194763

Finance lease liabilities 1078 1078

Financial liabilities included in accruals30 and other payables Note 30 18102 18102

Derivative financial instruments 34 34

34 352769 352803
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31 March 2010

38 t2IL 38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
continued

Company

Financial assets loans and receivables

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Other receivables 109 114

cash and cash equivalents 962 599

1071 713

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities included in accruals and other

fl/3O payables Note 30 425 428

39 39 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

At 31 March 2010 and 2009 the Groups capital commitment in

respect of land and buildings were as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

contracted but not provided for 1547

130
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39

fi$1

39 COMMITMENTS continued

Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2010 and 2009 the future aggregate minimum

lease payments in respect of land and buildings under non-

cancellable operating leases were as follows

Not later than one year

Later than one year and not later than five years

5566

9354

5073

12011

II-

H-

40 NA1tH Leading Trade

Limited China Capital Holdings Investment

Limited Cyber Concept Limited

20.04%i 20.06% 31.14%

24.51%Ll
4o7%

7$ iI5J

A11Aefl

14920 17084

Generally the Groups operating leases are for terms of one to

five years

The Company did not have any significant commitments at 31

March 2009 and 2010

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2010 Leading Trade Limited China Capital Holdings

Investment Limited and Cyber Concept Limited owned 20.04%

2009 20.06% 31.14% 2009 24.51% and nil 2009 4.07% of the

Companys shares respectively These companies are under the control

of the Companys directors Mr Lau Tak Wan and Ms Chan Yuen Mei

Pinky who are collectively regarded as the ultimate controlling parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any

member of its key management personnel or their close family members

has the ability directly or indirectly to exercise significant influence over

the parties in making financial and operating decisions or vice versa

or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant

influence Related parties may be individuals or entities

The following is summary of significant related party transactions

entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group

and its related parties and the balances arising form related party

transactions in addition to the related party information shown

elsewhere in the financial statements

Group

2010

HK$OOO

2009

HK$ 000
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40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Sales to DSC as an associated company

EDSC Purchase from DSC as an associated

Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc

361 Alden Inc

W-
2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

604 10070

4570

ii 1308 1281

i/ osc Goods return from/to DSC as an

associated company

Note

iii 7354 9241

tDSC Sales and

agreed terms

purchases with DSC are made based on mutually

ii 361 Alden Inc IJi6l
Ui

40bii

361 Alden Inc is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and

Ms Chan Yuen Mei Pinky directors of the Company Operating

lease rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed

between the parties

ii During the year the Group agreed to accept return of certain

goods from DSC as partial settlement of the amount due from

DSC These transactions are determined based on mutually

agreed terms also see Note 40 bii below

Balances with related parties

Company

2010

HK$OOO

291759

Group

2010

HK$OOO

ii
2009

HK$OOO

Amount due from DSC ii 4382 14855

40

Transactions with related parties

Group

company

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Note

2009

HK$000

294442

01 132
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40 flAfla
YAU

NflflIM

DSCflE
LitAB5

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Balances with related parties continued

Note

The amounts due trom subsidiaries are unsecured and non
interesting bearing and are repayable on demand These

amounts are denominated in HK$

The amount due from DSC represents trading fransactions with

the associated company which is denominated in US$ The

aging of these receivables are analysed as follows

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

3436

3878

4382 7541

LFfflflEflfl8fl
nnitflT

4382 14855

As of 31 March 2010 and 2009 certain of the above receivables

were past due but not considered to be impaired as continuous cash

repayments have been received from the associated company on those

relevant receivables The ageing analysis of these receivables is as

tollows

Less than 60 days

60 days to 120 days

Over 120 days

25

4022

4382 3494

4382 7541

Group

nc_c
2010

HK$OOO

nfljt
2009

HK$OOO

Overdue by

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO
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40 AL 40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Key management compensation

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Salaries and allowances 7698 7869

Bonuses 620 1293

t1IJ Pension costs defined contribution plans 338 344

8656 9506

134
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Share Option Information

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

tIt

JA
fltIi1i

itiJ1t

30%

The Company has in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange the Listing Rules adopted the

New Share Option Scheme as approved by the Shareholders of the Company

at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005

summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out

as below

Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives

or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to

enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and to

attract human resources for the growth of the Group

Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and

the requirements of the Listing Rules the Board may offer to grant an

Option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion

select

The basis of eligibility of Participants to the grant of any Options shall

be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of their

contribution to the development and growth of the Group

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of

all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under

the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option

schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%

of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time

135 35 ft5 55
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME continued

flB2flR6

MB2E1I1thJi

ftlltUtIi

l11thflQfifIi $t f42

E412 10%

tSLE4iIIEk
5fl

2fl4ft2
4fl24I5fl

Lflfl B4
i3210%

2ffItJMth4fl

fl411 iT 512 ElS

llQfl514 Efl

5afl5kfl4
44 lii 2c

41444244

Maximum number of Shares continued

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise

of all options excluding for this purpose options which have

lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option

Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company

to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any

other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate

exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of

the New Share Option Scheme the General Scheme Limit

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from

time to time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of

the Company in general meeting and the issue of circular

in compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the

Company in connection therewith provided that the total

number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all

options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme

and any other share option schemes of the Company under

the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in

issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for the purpose

of calculating the limit as refreshed options previously granted

under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option

schemes of the Company including those outstanding

cancelled lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New

Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the

Company will not be counted

The Company may issue circular in compliance with

Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek

separate approval by the shareholders of the Company in

general meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme

Limit or if applicable the limit referred to in above to

Grantees specifically identified by the Company before such

approval is sought

fit 37 136
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME continued

ii 1%

Fi

TX
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1Ijij
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued

upon exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option

Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company including

exercised cancelled or outstanding options to each Participant in

any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital

of the Company at the time the Option is granted to the participant

the Individual Limit Any further grant of options in excess of the

Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date

of such further grant shall be subject to the issue of circular in

compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and

the shareholders approval in general meeting of the Company with such

Participant and his associates abstaining from voting

Grant of options to connected persons

Any grant of Options under the New Share Option Scheme

to director chief executive or substantial shareholder of the

Company or any of their respective associates as defined in

the Listing Rules must be approved by the independent non-

executive Directors excluding any independent non-executive

Director who is the Grantee of the Options

Where any grant of Options to substantial shareholder or an

independent non-executive Director or any of their respective

associates as defined in the Listing Rules would result in the

Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options

already granted and to be granted including options exercised

cancelled and outstanding to such person under the New Share

Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company in the

12-month period up to and including the date of such grant

representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number

of Shares in issue and
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having an aggregate value based on the closing price of

the Shares at the date of each grant in excess of HK$5

million

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders

of the Company The Company must send circular in compliance

with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company All connected

persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant

resolution at such general meeting except that any such connected

person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general meeting

provided that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular Any

vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be

taken on poll

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of

grant of an Option An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed

to have been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is duly

completed signed and returned to the Company with payment of

HK$10 as consideration within 28 days from the date of offer

Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the

New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period

commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the

last day of the five-year period

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer

of grant of Options to Participant there are no minimum period for

which an option must be held before it can be exercised

138

Daiwa Associate Holdings Liwited



IF Share Option Information

SHARE OPTION SCHEME continued

fo

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of

grant of Options to Participant Participant is not required to achieve

any performance targets before any Options granted under the New

Share Option Scheme can be exercised

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be

price determined by the directors and notified to Participant at the

time of the offer of grant and shall not be lower than the highest of

the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchanges daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of

grant which must be business day

the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchanges daily quotations sheet for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant and

the nominal value of the Shares for the time being

10 2flM

ffli

10 Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject

to all the provisions of the Companys Bye-Laws for the time being in

force and will rank pan passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the

date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate

in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date

of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previously

declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record

date therefor shall be before the date of allotment

Performance target

Subscription price for Shares
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11 Restrictions on the time of grant of options

grant of Options may not be made after price sensitive event

has occurred or price sensitive matter has been the subject of

decision until such price sensitive information has been published in

the newspapers In particular the Board shall not offer the grant of an

Option to any Participant during the period commencing one month

immediately preceding the earlier of the date of the meeting of the

Directors for the approval of the Companys interim or annual results

and ii the last date on which the Company must publish its interim or

annual results announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock

Exchange and ending on the date of the announcement of the results

12 Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for period

of years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option

Scheme become unconditional after which no further Options will

be issued and thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any

unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give

effect to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be

required in accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option

Scheme

13 The life of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 17 August

2010 subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the New Share

Option Scheme at the annual general meeting
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no

responsibility jbr the cntents of this announcement make no representation as to its accuracy or

completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or

in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement

DàIViX
DAIWAASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED

incoiporated in Bermuda with limited liability

Stock code 1037

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

On behalf of the Board of Directors would like to present to shareholders the annual results of

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited the Company and its subsidiaries collectively the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2010

am taking this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Groups staff for their contributions

enabling the Group to work through difficult year

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Turnover was reported as HK$1628 million 2009 HK$1542 million for the year ended 31 March

2010 which indicates an increase of 6% from last financial year Due to special provision for

inventories included in cost of sales in the reported year gross profit was lower than its normal

level Gross profit in the reported year was HK$116 million 2009 HK$143.5 million representing

drop by 19% However if excluding such special stock provision gross profit dropped by 3% to

HK$139.6 million Tbe.decline in gross profit before special stock provision was primarily caused

by the decreased turnover and drop in profit margin in our manufacturing segment Due to the

prolonge4 contraction of the American and European markets with the keen competition from

small local Chinese manufacturers the Group will discontinue certain low-margin product lines

in the manufacturing business segment Provisions for inventories and other relevant production

assets mainly tooling machineries in respect of the discontinued product lines and goods return

aggregated to HK$37.8 million This sum of provisions in the year under review turned the initial

profitable into loss result attributable to equity holders of the Company for HK$31.6 million 2009

HK$7.1 million profit Before making such special provisions the operating profit for the year

ended 31 March 2010 was HK$15.5 million 2009 HK$17.3 million Moreover in the comparative

year ended 31 March 2009 there was sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal of property and

on financial instruments which did not repeat in the year ended 31 March 2010 By also taking

this factor into account the Groups operating profitability can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4

million year-on-year



For the year ended 31 March 2010

The earnings before interest tax depreciation and amortization EBITDA and before special

provisions are HK$32.3 million 2009 HK$35.2 million

The operating profit EBIT before special provisions is HK$15.5 million 2009 HK$17.3

million

The operating loss after special provisions is HK$22.3 million 2009 HK$17.3 million

operating profit without similar provisions

In view of the need of the Groups future development the Board of Directors has resolved not to

recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders During the year the Group declared and paid

an interim dividend of HKO.3 cent per ordinary share

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2010 the Groups net current assets amounted to HK$162.3 million 2009 HK$178.1

million and the shareholders funds were HK$360.6 million 2009 HK$384.1 million The total

bank loan was HK$231 million and the net gearing ratio which is defined as total borrowings after

netting off cash and cash equivalents to shareholders funds excluding minority interests is 0.18

2009 0.19 The year-end cash and bank balances increased to HK$166.6 million 2009 HK$124.6

million

At 31 March 2010 total available banking facilities of the Group were approximately HK$349

million of which HK$58 million was unutilized Finance lease obligations were fully repaid during

the year 2009 HK$1.1 million The Company issued corporate guarantees to banks for granting of

banking facilities to subsidiaries At 31 March 2010 total amount of corporate guarantee committed

was HK$448 million

The Groups assets are mostly financed by shareholders funds trade payables and bank borrowings

Trade payables are repayable within one year Bank borrowings composed of trade financing

repayable within one year and term loans repayable in installments for more than one year Total

bank borrowings as at year end date increased by 18% when compared with last reported year

The borrowings are mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars to prevent currency risk The Groups

cash and cash equivalents are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars US dollars Canadian

dollars and Renminbi The Group continuously matches the payments and receipts of foreign

currency arising from routine purchases and sales Combining these methods the Group is able

to control and minimize the financial cost and exchange risk Most of the Groups borrowings are

interest bearing at floating rates which are in reference to the Hong Kong HIBOR rate The Group

has not engaged in any speculative derivatives or structured product transactions



Inventory level increased to HK$236 million from HK$205.3 million of last financial year to cater

for more than 30% increase in sales in the distribution business segment Average stock turnover is

controlled to less than 60 stock turnover days The trade receivables and payables increased in line

with the growth in turnover in our core business of electronic components distribution

Thanks to the continuous support of our bankers the Groups liquidity is believed not to be affected

by the provisions for inventory and tooling machineries mentioned above

In the reported year the Group repurchased 26000 ordinary shares in the open market The purchase

prices ranged from HK$0.28 to HK$0.30 per share

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

In this reported year the labour cost of manufacturing kept increasing due to the increase of

minimum wages labour shortage and the appreciation of Renminbi Rmb In the manufacturing

segment the Group operated in accordance with its normal production procedures and stocking plans

for raw materials Due to the prolonged contraction of the American and European markets with the

keen competition from small local Chinese manufacturers the Group will discontinue certain low-

margin and low business entry barrier product lines in the manufacturing segment Consequently

the Group decided to make provisions for inventories tooling machineries in the sum of HK$37.8

million in respect of the discontinued products and goods return from an associated company in the

reported year The bottom line of the Group in the reported year therefore was dragged down from

profitable to loss result Excluding these provisions and sum of HK$18.2 million gains on disposal

of property and on financial instruments in the previous comparative year the Groups operating

profitability can be seen as an increase by HK$16.4 million year-on-year This was achieved by way

of strict discipline in cost management such that the Group shaved off selling and administrative

expenses excluding the HK$14.2 million provisions by HK$18.1 million or 12% in the reported

year

Notwithstanding consolidation in the manufacturing business segment it was encouraging to see that

business in the electronic components distribution segment recorded robust growth

The Group is engaged in the following major businesses namely

Electronic Components Distribution

EMS Contract Electronic Manufacturing Services

Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing and

Personal Computer Distribution
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Electronic Components Distribution

Electronic components distribution constitutes the core business of the Group accounting for 67% of

the Groups turnover in the reported year This core business has continued its growth momentum

Turnover of this segment in the reported year reached record high to HK$1083.2 million 2009

HK$795.1 million representing growth of 36% when compared with last financial year Gross

profit was HK$90 million representing growth of 28% when compared with last year 2009

HK$70.2 million

Business in this segment is mainly to act as authorized distributor of various renowned brand names

including the Groups own manufactured electronic components Major customers are manufacturers

in Hong Kong and PRC Products of this segment includes diodes transistors integrated circuits IC
power modules MCU MCP CPU memory chips and display modules etc Applications of these

components are mobile phones electronic toys power supplies radio CD players DVD players

TV MP3/MP4 players LED lamps handheld electronic devices and amplifiers This segment

also provides professional design service for MCUs for solutions of air-conditioner MP4 players

electrical bicycles iPod iPhone dockings as well as power management modules There is strong

growth in this segment because of the development in power supply solutions and focusing on

customers of mobile phones manufacturer in East Asia and the domestic market of China

The Group has about 30 years of experience in this segment Other than the solid base in Hong

Kong the Group is one of the biggest distributors pioneer to penetrate in the PRC market for more

than 20 years The Group has built up strong sales network and good logistic foundation in major

PRC cities by the joint management between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites The performance

of Shenzhen Shanghai and Beijing sales offices were outstanding among competitors In order to

explore further business opportunities the Group had further strengthened the engineering capability

in providing total solutions to customers and will keep continue bring in new principal suppliers

The Group has maintained an array of authorized distributorships with renowned suppliers such as

Toshiba Panasonic On Semiconductor On Bright isocom Johanson Magnetic COS Chino-Excel

Technology Corp CET Diodes Rohm Arnold Magnetics LiteOn CET Everlight AEM and Abilis

Systems

Beijing Shanghai and Shenzhen sales divisions kept playing an important role The Group has also

established sales office in Zhaoqing Chengdu and Xiamen

EMS Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service

The Group engaged in the production of telecommunication modules in mobile phone base stations

active antennas radar parts electronic modules in automobiles as well as PCB assembly for

industrial purpose products The facility was equipped with high speed SMT production lines with

nitrogen filled reflow furnaces precise solder paste screen printer etc Process reliability could be

ensured by the in-house RoHS Scanning Systems and X-Ray Inspection Machine



The reported year show rapid deterioration in business climate in North America and Western

Europe Sales orders from these major markets of our EMS business were diminished Our EMS

business was contracted to turnover of HK$150.4 million 2009 HK$223.5 million representing

decrease of 33% The gross profit before special stock provision decreased by 18% to HK$18.9

million 2009 HK$23 million when compared with last year

With effective and continuous investments in engineering of developments manufacturing process

and quality assurance the Group has earned recognition from core customers not only by continue

support of purchase orders but also by gaining transfer of business orders from competitors

The Group also started to explore the possibility of co-development of new products with customers

The Group believed that this direction of EMS production will distinguish the Group from its

corn petito rs

Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing

The Group was cautious on the continuous escalating raw material cost and labour cost eliminating

low profit margin products and keeping the Group from the risk of losses

In the reported year turnover of consumer electronics and electronic components manufacturing

in the reporting year was HK$132.8 million 2009 HK$215.2 million representing drop by

38% Gross profit before special stock provision dropped by 72% to HK$5.7 million 2009 HK$20

million

To equip the Group in the coming years new models which were developed with niche solutions and

professional product identities such as sound bars iPod iPhone dockings multi-interface mini

compo hi-fi as well as special feature radios directed and maintained attention from direct customers

The development of new product lines in telecommunications such as cordless DECT phones and two

way radios led the Group into new era of products The Group is starting to play significant role

in this segment

The replacement of labour force by automatic machines also allowed this segment be less dependent

on the negative effects from labour cost and supply

Personal Computer Distribution

Turnover of this segment was HK$262 million 2009 HK$308.3 million which represented

decrease of 15% in the reported year Gross profit decreased by 16% to HK$25.4 million 2009

HK$30.3 million The decrease in turnover in this segment was mainly result of the economic

decline in North America and the global price reduction of personal computer products



Business in this segment mainly comes from distribution of personal computer products in North

America Products in this segment include motherboards display cards hard disk drives optical

storage device computer cases power supply software memory desk-top computer notebook

netbook computers and computer accessories

Tn order to shift part of the concentration in personal computer systems the Canada subsidiary

has already established dedicated marketing team in promoting the notebook computers memory

devices computer cases and power supplies The subsidiary also started to market iPhone accessories

which are produced outside the Group and has already received concrete orders from mass merchants

such as Canadian Tire

FUTURE PROSPECT

While there is recent financial crisis in Greece and certain European countries the US economy is

recovering from the trough of its financial tsunami The crisis has caused folding of many businesses

in the manufacturing industry which caused demand to be inadequately met This shows that the

future is full of opportunities and challenges

The business outlook of the Groups core business in distribution of electronic components is

positive After the efforts in developing the solution of mobile phone and audio-visual applications

in previous years the Group has gained fruitful returns from new customers As the rising living

standard in China is creating strong demand for electronic products in farm villages including

mobile phones handheld electronic devices and automobiles the Group is keeping its strong

penetration in manufactures of these sectors In the first quarter after the reported year end the

Distribution Sector continued to maintain its good performance At the same time the Sector is

going to eliminate non-contributive distribution line and will be replaced by the new principal

supplier Abilis Systems The Group has already started to launch the applications to the rising

demand of green illuminations in LED lamps

In the past years the Group has successfully integrated production sites into the two sites in

Dongguan and Heyuan To further concentrate management efforts and overheads the Group has

started to move its Dongguan operations to Heyuan production site and is expecting to have sizable

saving of overheads At the same time since the number of manufacturers in the industry was

substantially reduced in the financial crisis the Group can successfully gain better pricing both in

EMS and consumer electronics products which can cover the rise of overhead with excess margins

In the telecommunication sector the Group has already invested in the RD of DECT phones and

two-way radios for three years and has started gaining recognition from customers The Group has

also passed factory audits of new customers of renowned international brand names in cordless

DECT phone and two way radios New orders in this sector will most probably replace the eliminated

consumer electronics with satisfactory profit margins in the coming fiscal year



The advent of Windows and iPad has excited users to bring in new demand in personal computers

The subsidiary in Canada has developed new product line of computer and iPhone accessories selling

to mass merchants with hundreds of retail stores in North America Customers provided positive

feedback and the Group expects to have further exposures and contributions adding on top of the

personal computer business

The big provision in the reported year is more or less one-off provision and is not expected to be

recurring With growth in electronic component distribution of new business in telecommunications

as well as the effect of cost consolidation from the production site in Heyuan the coming financial

year will be year of turnaround in the overall profitability

Employees

At 31 March 2010 the Group employed total of approximately 3800 employees 31 March 2009

3500 employees 30 September 2009 3300 employees located in Hong Kong Canada and PRC

The Groups remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices and is determined

on the basis of performance and experience of the individual Sales personnel are remunerated by

salaries and incentives in accordance with the achievement of their sales target General staff are

offered year-end discretionary bonuses which are based on the divisional performance and individual

appraisals The Group also provides Mandatory Provident Fund or ORSO scheme and medical

benefits to all Hong Kong employees Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the share option

scheme adopted by the Company on 18 August 2005 the Group may grant share options to directors

and eligible employees Up to 31 March 2010 no share options had been granted

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and external training

to the employees In addition to sending staff to participate in seminars and lectures the Group

continues recommending that qualified staff take part in professional courses such as the 1S09000

TS16949 and Six-Sigma Quality Systems The training programs not only enhance employees career

development and professional knowledge but also contribute to upgrading the management system of

the Group
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Turnover 1628377 1542134

Cost of sales 1512405 1398671

Gross profit 115972 143463

Other income 678 829

Other gains net 3575 19436

Selling and distribution expenses 21421 26771

General and administrative expenses 121136 119667

Operating loss/profit 22332 17290

Finance costs net 3619 7826

Loss/profit before income tax 25951 9464

Income tax expense 5410 2735

Loss/profit for the year 31361 6729

Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 31630 7115

Minority interests 269 386

31361 6729

Losses/earnings per share for loss/profit attributable

to equity holders of the Company during the year

Basic HK1O.42 cents 11K2.34 cents

Diluted HK1O.42 cents 1-1K2.34 cents

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company are set out in Note



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 March 2010

2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Non-current assets

Goodwill 28121 22704

Property plant and equipment 186385 198784

Leasehold land and land use rights 20776 21312

Interest in jointly controlled entity

Interest in an associated company

Deferred income tax assets 927 172

Available-for-sale financial assets 305 168

Other assets 710 710

237224 243851

Current assets

Inventories 235927 205304

Trade and notes receivables 10 208270 139632

Amount due from an associated company 4382 14855

Prepayments deposits and other receivables 29472 16885

Derivative financial instruments 235

Cash and cash equivalents 166627 124556

644678 501467

Total assets 881902 745318

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders

of the Company

Share capital 30394 30364

Reserves 330252 353732

360646 384096

Minority interests 354 475

Total equity 361000 384571



2010 2009

Note HK$OOO HK$OOO

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 36680 34053

Deferred income tax liabilities 1877 3347

38557 37400

Current liabilities

Borrowings 194271 161788

Trade payables 11 258709 138826

Accruals and other payables 27769 20083

Current income tax liabilities 1596 2616

Derivative financial instruments 34

482345 323347

Total liabilities 520902 360747

Total equity and liabilities 881902 745318

Net current assets 162333 178120

Total assets less current liabilities 399557 421.971

Notes

General information

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited the Company is limited liability company incorporated in

Bermuda on February 1994 as an exempted company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda The

address of its registered office is Canons Court 22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12 Bermuda The

shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited since 14 April 1994

The Company and its subsidiaries together the Group are principally engaged in the design

development manufacturing and distribution of electronic components contract electronic

manufacturing services and consumer electronics and the distribution of personal computer products

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong Mainland China and Canada
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited have been prepared in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards HKFRS issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants HKICPA They are prepared under the historical cost

convention except that certain financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative financial

instruments are measured at fair value as appropriate

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FIKFRS requires the use of certain critical

accounting estimates it also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying

the Groups accounting policies

Effect of adopting new standards amendments to standards and interpretations

The following new standard and amendments to standards are mandatory for accounting periods

beginning on or after April 2009 The adoption of these new standard and amendments to standards

does not have any significant impact to the results and financial position of the Group

HKAS Revised Presentation of Financial Statements The revised standard requires non-

owner changes in equity to be presented separately from owner changes in equity As result

the Group presents all owner changes in equity in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

whereas all non-owner changes in equity are presented in performance statement Entities can

choose whether to present one performance statement the statement of comprehensive income

or two statements the income statement and statement of comprehensive income The Group

has elected to present two statements an income statement and statement of comprehensive

income The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the revised disclosure

requirements Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects there is no

impact on earnings per share

Amendment to HKFRS Financial Instruments Disclosures The amendment requires enhanced

disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk In particular the amendment requires

disclosure of fair value measurements by level of fair value measurement hierarchy As the

change in accounting policy only results in additional disclosures there is no impact on earnings

per share

HKFRS Operating Segments HKFRS replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting The new

standard requires management approach under which segment information is presented on

the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes In addition the segments are reported

in manner that is more consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker

This has resulted in an increase in number of reportable segments presented Electronic

Components Distribution Contract Electronic Manufacturing Services Consumer Electronics

and Electronic Components Manufacturing and Personal Computer Distribution

As the Groups goodwill is allocated to the Personal Computer Distribution segment the

adoption of the new standard does not require reallocation of goodwill Accordingly the

adoption of the new standard only results in additional disclosures and does not have any impact

on the balance sheets Comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current

years presentation
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The following amendments to standards and interpretations are also mandatory for the financial periods

beginning on or after April 2009

HKFRSs Amendments Improvements to HKFRSs 2008

HKFRS and HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in Subsidiary Jointly Controlled Entity or

Amendments Associate

HKFRS Amendment Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions

and Cancellations

HKAS 23 Revised Borrowing Costs

UKAS 32 and HKAS Puttabie Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on

Amendments Liquidation

HKIFR1C-lnt and Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HKAS 39 Amendments

HKIFRIC-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HKIFRIC-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

HKIFRIC-Int 16 Hedges of Net Investment in Foreign Operation

HKIFRIC-lnt 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers2

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2009 except the amendment to

HKFRS Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations which is effective for

annual period beginning January 2010

Effective for transfer of assets received on or after July 2009

The adoption of these amendments to standards and interpretations did not result in significant impact

on the results and financial position of the Group

The following standard amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not

effective for the year and have not been early adopted

HKFRSs Amendments Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKFRSs Amendments Improvements to HKFRSs 20102

HKAS 24 Revised Related Party Disclosures2

HKAS 27 Revised Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 32 Amendment Classification of Rights Issues2

HKAS 39 Amendment Eligible Hedged Items

HKFRS Revised First-time Adoption of HKFRS

HKFRS Amendment Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

HKFRS Amendment Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

HKFRS Revised Business Combinations

HKFRS Financial Instruments3

HKIFRIC-Int 14 Prepayments of Minimum Funding Requirment2

Amendment

HKIFRIC-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

HKIFRIC-lnt 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2010

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2011

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning April 2013
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The effect that the adoption of HKFRS Revised and HKAS 27 Revised will have on the results

and financial position of the Group will depend on the incidence and timing of business combinations

occurring on or after April 2010 The directors anticipate that the adoption of other standards

amendments to standards and interpretations will not result in significant impact on the results and

financial position of the Group

Turnover and segment information

Group

2010 2009

IIK$OOO HK$OOO

Turnover

Sales of goods 1628377 1542134

Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in the design development manufacturing and distribution of

electronic components contract electronic manufacturing services and consumer electronics and the

distribution of personal computer products

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive directors collectively referred

to as the CODM that make strategic decisions The CODM reviews the internal reporting of the

Company and its subsidiaries in order to assess performance and allocate resources Management has

determined the operating segments based on these reports

The CODM considers the business from the perspective of the nature of operations and the type of

products including the Electronic Components Distribution Contract Electronic Manufacturing

Services Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing and Personal Computer

Distribution

Each of the Groups operating segments represents strategic business unit that is managed by different

business unit leaders inter-segment transactions are entered into under the normal commercial

terms and conditions that would normally be available to unrelated third parties CODM assesses

the performance of the operating segments based on measure of profit before income tax Other

information provided to the CODM is measured in manner consistent with that in the financial

statements

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred tax assets available-for-sale financial assets and

corporate assets mainly including certain corporate properties and equipment and corporate cash and

bank balances all of which are managed on central basis Liabilities of reportable segments exclude

current and deferred income tax liabilities corporate borrowings and other corporate liabilities These

are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities
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Year ended 31 March 2010

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Revenue

Sales of goods 1083193 150352 132812 262020 1628377

Results of reportable segments 27226 2871 42044 5224 12465

reconciliation of results of reportable

segments to loss for the year is as

follows

Results of reportable segments 12465

Unallocated expenses 9867

Operating results 22332

Finance costs net 3619

Loss before income tax 25951

Income tax expense 5410

Loss for the year 31361

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 1706 9066 6753 317 17842

Loss on disposal on property

plant and equipment 50 50

Depreciation on property plant and

equipment 3163 2127 10518 422 16230

Amortisation of leasehold land and

land use rights 537 537

Impairment of property plant and

equipment 14200 14200

Impairment of inventories 7354 16251 23605

Write down of inventories 1807 421 2228

Impairment of trade receivables 161 435 596
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Year ended 31 March 2010

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO

Segment assets

Segment assets 401359 89985 153780 58167 703291

Goodwill 28121 28121

401359 89985 153780 86288 731412

Available4or-sale financial assets 305

Deferred income tax assets 927

Other unallocated assets 149258

Total assets per consolidated

balance sheet 881902

Segment liabilities 381915 30767 42760 27847 483289

Current income tax liabilities 1596

Deferred income tax liabilities 1877

Other unallocated liabilities 34140

Total liabilities per consolidated

balance sheet 520902
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Year ended 31 March 2009

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$1100 HK$OOO HK$OOO

Revenue

Sales of goods 795098 223490 215197 308349 1542134

Results of reportable segments 24388 4387 12372 2529 18932

reconciliation of results of reportable

segments to profit for the year
is as

follows

Results of reportable segments 18932

Unallocated income 1l817

Unallocated expense 13459

Operating profit 17290

Finance costs net 7826

Profit before income tax 9464

Income tax expense 2735

Profit for the year 6729

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 2397 3407 18431 517 24752

Gain on disposal of property

plant and equipment 11805 11805

Depreciation on property plant and

equipment 4612 2069 10194 406 17281

Amortisation of leasehold land and land

use rights 595 595

Write-down of inventories 3233 3285 6518

Impairment of trade receivables 1433 280 696 2409
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Year ended 31 March 2009

Consumer

Contract Electronics

Electronic Electronic and Electronic Personal

Components Manufacturing Components Computer

Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total

HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$OOO HK$000 HK$OOO

Segment assets

Segment assets 330421 83144 116459 47800 577824

Goodwill 22704 22704

330421 83144 116459 70504 600528

Available-for-sale financial assets 168

Deferred income tax assets 172

Other unallocated assets 144450

Total assets
per

consolidated

balance sheet 745318

Segment liabilities

Other segment liabilities 200995 12836 44759 24119 282709

Current income tax liabilities 2616

Deferred income tax liabilities 3347

Other unallocated liabilities 72075

Total liabilities per consolidated

balance sheet 360747

The entity is domiciled in Hong Kong The revenue from external customers attributed to Hong Kong

and other locations are analysed as follows

Revenue from external

customers

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Hong Kong 961068 652266

Mainland China 205260 241619

North America 272306 418827

Europe 162542 193203

Other Asian countries 27201 36219

1628377 1542134
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At 31 March 2010 the total of non-current assets other than goodwill financial instruments and

deferred tax assets there are no employment benefit assets and rights arising under insurance

contracts located in Hong Kong is approximately HK$10936000 2009 HK$10785000 and the total

of these non-current assets located in other locations mainly in the Mainland China and Canada is

approximately HK$196935000 2009 HK$210022000

Other gains net

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Loss/gain on disposal of property plant and equipment and

leasehold land and land use rights 50 11805

Fair value loss/gain on derivative financial instruments 201 6480

Write-off of interest in jointly controlled entity

Net exchange gains 3827 1151

3575 19436

Expenses by nature

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Changes in inventories of trading merchandise finished goods and

work-in-progress 33347 20688

Trading merchandise raw materials and consumables used 1449238 1287760

Auditors remuneration 2447 2233

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights 537 595

Depreciation

owned property plant and equipment 16230 17006

property plant and equipment held under finance leases 275

Employment benefit expenses including directors emoluments 111916 137132

Provision for impairment of inventories note 23605

Impairment of property plant and equipment note ii 14200

Impairment of trade receivables included in general and

administrative expenses 596 2409

Write-down of inventories 2228 6518

Operating lease rental in respect of land and buildings 7355 6955

Travelling and office expenses 21463 18476

Transportation expenses 5103 6980

Advertising costs 380 1019

Repair and maintenance expenses 3599 3219

Other expenses 29412 33844

1654962 1545109

Representing

Cost of sales 1512405 1398671

Selling and distribution expenses 21421 26771

General and administrative expenses 121136 119667

1654962 1545109
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Notes

Included in provision for impairment for the year was an amount of approximately HK$16251000

made in connection with the Groups plan to scale down certain low profit margin product lines

In addition during the year the Group also agreed to accept return of certain inventories from

an associated company as partial settlement of the amount due from an associated company The

conditions of the returned inventories have been re-evaluated by the directors as at the balance

sheet date and consequently provision of HK$7354000 has been made thereon

ii During the year the directors conducted review of the Groups property plant and equipment

having regard to its plan to scale down certain low profit margin product lines and the

consolidation of certain of the Groups manufacturing operations These assets are used in the

Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components Manufacturing segment Consequently

impairment losses of HK$14200000 have been identified and recognised in the consolidated

income statement The recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have been determined on the

basis of their fair value less costs to sales The directors determined the recoverable amounts of

these assets with reference to the market values of similar assets on scrap sales basis

Finance costs net

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Interest income from bank deposits 82 224

Interest expense on bank loans wholly repayable within five years 4042 6923
Interest element of finance leases 16 154
Others 357 973

3701 8050

Finance costs net 3619 7826

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at

the rate of 16.5% 2009 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong

Kong Companies established and operated in the Mainland China are subject to PRC corporate income

tax at the rate of 25% 2009 25% Companies established and operated in Canada are subject to

Canadian income tax at the rate of 35% 2009 35%

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Current taxation

Hong Kong profits tax 3577 1762

PRC corporate income tax 2220 1259

Canada income tax 1838 633

Deferred taxation relating to the origination and reversal of

temporary differences 2225 919

5410 2735
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Dividends

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Interim paid of HKO.3 cents 2009 HK0.3 cent per share note 911 911

Final proposed of Nil 2009 HKO.5 cents per share

note ii 1518

911 2429

Note

At meeting held on 27 November 2009 the Companys directors declared an interim dividend of

HKO.3 cents per share totalling HK$911000 which was paid on January 2010

In November 2008 the Companys directors declared an interim dividend of HKO.3 cent per

share totalling HK$911000 which was paid on January 2009

ii No final dividend is declared by the Companys directors for the year ended 31 March 2010

At meeting held on 21 July 2009 the Companys directors proposed final dividend of HKO.5

cents per share This proposed dividend had been reflected as an appropriation of retained profits

for the year ending 31 March 2010

Losses/earnings per share

Basic

Basic Iosses/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

2010 2009

Losses/profit attributable to equity holders of

the Company HK$OOO 31630 7115

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 000 303643 303895

Basic losses/earnings per share HK cents per share 10.42 2.34

Diluted

Diluted losses/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of

ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all the Companys outstanding warrants

Dilutive losses/earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2010 and 2009 equal basic

losses/earnings per share as the exercise of the outstanding warrants would be anti-dilutive

20



10 Trade and notes receivables

Group
2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Trade receivables 196701 130714

Less provision for impairment 1467 2745

195234 127969

Notes receivable 13036 11663

208270 139632

Note

Majority of the Groups sales are made on open account with credit terms generally ranging from 30

days to 90 days The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Less than 60 days 140484 100969

60 days to 120 days 45144 18043

Over 120 days 11073 11702

196701 130714

11 Trade payabtes

Payment terms with majority of the suppliers are on open account Certain suppliers grant credit period

ranging from 30 to 60 days

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows

Group

2010 2009

HK$OOO HK$OOO

Less than 60 days 237737 130830

60 days to 120 days 12504 6084

Over 120 days 8468 1912

258709 138826
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday 24 August 2010 to Monday

30 August 2010 both days inclusive during which period no transfer of shares can be registered

To ascertain shareholders who are eligible to attend our 2010 Annual General Meeting all properly

completed transfer forms accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with Tricor

Abacus Limited 26/F Tesbury Centre 28 Queens Road East Wanchai Hong Kong for registration

not later than 400 p.m on Monday 23 August 2010

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance

Practices the Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31

March 2010 save for the following deviations

Code Provision A.2.1

Under the Code provision A.2.1 the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be

separated and should not be performed by the same individual

Mr LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the Company In the opinion of

the Board the role of the president and the chief executive officer is the same The Board considers

that the present structure provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for

efficient and effective business planning and execution Hence the Board believes that it is in the

best interest of the shareholders of the Company that Mr LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the

roles of the Chairman of the Board and the president of the Company However the Company will

review the current structure as and when it becomes appropriate in future

Code Provision A.4.1 and A.4.2

Under the Code provision A.4.1 the non-executive directors should be appointed for specific term

subject to re-election and under the Code provision A4.2 every director including those appointed

for specific term should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years

Currently the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for specific term but

are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company

in accordance with the provisions of the bye-laws of the Company and their appointment will be

reviewed when they are due for re-election
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code

of conduct regarding directors securities transactions Having made specific enquiry of all directors

the directors have confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code as

provided in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2010

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopted

by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including the review of

the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2010

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group

and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2010 The figures in respect of the preliminary

announcement of the Groups results for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been agreed by the

Groups auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers to the amounts set out in the Groups draft consolidated

financial statements for the year The work performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers in this respect did

not constitute an assurance engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing Hong

Kong Standards on Review Engagements or Hong Kong Standards on Assurance Engagements issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and consequently no assurance has been

expressed by PricewaterhouseCoopers on the preliminary announcement

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on December 2005 with specific written terms of

reference The Remuneration Committee comprise two independent non-executive directors Mr Liu

Ngai Wing and Mr Choi Yuk Fan and one executive director Mr Lau Tak Wan

23



PURCHASE SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANYS LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2010 the Company purchased total of 26000 shares of HK$0.10

each of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited all of these shares were

cancelled Particulars of the shares repurchased are as follows

Price per share

Number Total cost

of shares Highest Lowest including

Trading Month/Year repurchased price paid price paid expenses

HK$ HK$ HK$

April 2009 26000 0.300 0.280 7710

26000 7710

Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased sold and

redeemed any of the Companys listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2010

PUBLICATION OF ANNUAL RESULTS ON THE WEBSITE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED

This announcement is required to be published on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited Stock Exchange under Latest Listed Companies Information and at the website

of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited at http//www.daiwahk.com/news.phtml The annual report

containing all the information required under Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules will be published on

the Stock Exchanges website in due course

By order of the Board

LAU TAK WAN
President

Hong Kong 28 July 2010

As at the date of this announcement the board of directors of the Company comprises Mr Lau Tak

Wan Mr Wan Chor Fai Mr Mak Hon Kai Stanly and Ms Chan Yuen Mei Pinky as executive

directors and Mr Barry John Buttifant Air Liu Ngai Wing and Mr Choi Yuk Fan as independent

non-executive directors
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